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The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Neurotech International Limited 
(Company) for the financial period ended 30 June 2016 and the Auditor’s Report thereon. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the Directors in office during the financial period and until the date of this report are 
set out below.  

• Peter O’Connor (Chairman – Appointed 15 January 2016) 

• Peter Griffiths  (Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director – Appointed 12 May 2016) 

• Adrian Attard Trevisan (Technical Director – Appointed 15 January 2016) 

• Wolfgang Johannes Storf  (Chief Executive Officer – Appointed 12 May 2016) 

• Simon Trevisan  (Non-Executive Director – Appointed 15 January 2016) 

• Anthony Trevisan  (Alternative Director of Simon Trevisan  – Appointed 14 June 2016) 

• Cheryl Tan   (Non-Executive Director – Appointed 5 September 2016) 

• Fleur Hudson  (Company Secretary – Appointed 15 January 2016) 

Directors have been in office the entire period unless otherwise stated. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Neurotech researches, designs, markets and through third party manufacturers, produces wearable 
neurotechnology devices to assist with neurological conditions such as autism.  

Neurotech’s current core focus is the design, manufacturing, sale and distribution of its first product, Mente. 
Mente is a portable electroencephalogram (EEG) medical device that uses neurofeedback to help relax the 
minds of children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD or autism).   

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the current financial 
period ended 30 June 2016 (2015: Nil). 

OPERATING RESULTS 

The consolidated Company’s net loss after providing for income tax for the period ended 30 June 2016 
amounted to $2,181,346 (31 December 2015: $839,413). At 30 June 2016, the Company has $1,007,536 
between cash and cash equivalents and investments (31 December 2015: $1,881,635). 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Neurotech is a medical device and solutions Company incorporated in Australia, which operates through its 
Malta-based subsidiary, AAT Research. 

Neurotech is developing neuro-stimulation and neuro-diagnostic solutions to be delivered via the Mente 
platform, an innovative platform technology to enable medical practitioners to remotely monitor and play an 
active role in home-based therapies.  Neurotech has commercialised its first product which assists with the 
management of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) with additional research and development 
commenced on a number of separate initiatives relating to tinnitus, anxiety, depression and epilepsy.  
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Its first product, Mente Autism, is a portable, electroencephalographic (EEG) medical device for home use that 
uses closed-loop neurofeedback to help relax the minds of children with ASD. Its unique technology creates 
personalised auditory stimulation which uses power ratios of different brain wave activity that are present in 
children with ASD to normalize the connectivity pathways in the brain. 

The use of neurofeedback as a method to treat neurological conditions, including ASD, is not a new concept 
and has been around for some time, with experimentation in the area taking place more than 10 years ago. 
This need arose as a response to the limitations of existing treatments, including behavioural therapy and 
psychopharmacological and biomedical interventions, which may be associated with side effects, risks or 
require ongoing or long term treatment.  

Neurofeedback has since emerged as a non-pharmaceutical treatment form, with benefits including a non-
invasive approach which has been shown to enhance neuro regulation and metabolic function in patients with 
ASD. The key difference between previous work and what Neurotech has achieved with Mente Autism, is 
enabling the use of the technology safely in the home by making it small, wearable and affordable to the 
everyday family. This type of treatment was previously restricted to clinical institutions, yet Mente Autism’s 
results to date are comparable to clinical EEG systems.  

Neurotech has obtained a number of independent certifications, CE Marking (Mente Autism and Mente 2.0), 
FDA listing (Mente 2.0) as well as ISO certification (AAT Medical, a fully owned subsidiary of the Company), and 
is now focused on driving the commercialisation of the Mente Autism device.  

Neurotech’s primary mission is to improve the lives of people with neurological conditions, with a vision of 
becoming the global leader in home-use and clinical neurotechnology solutions which are accessible and 
affordable. Through its first flagship medical device, Mente Autism, and the associated software platform, 
Neurotech is focused on the development and commercialisation of technological solutions for the diagnosis 
and treatment of such conditions, starting with ASD. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the period other than the 
Company was capitalised and acquired the AAT Research Group.  

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE 

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Neurotech International Limited (the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) has resolved to change its consolidated financial year end from 31 December to 30 
June.  Accordingly, the current financial year end date of the Group is now 30 June 2016; the comparatives are 
for the year ended 31 December 2015.  

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of 
affairs in future financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

The Group expects to make its initial public offering in late 2016.  The Group will continue to pursue its main 
objective of developing interests in design medical devices.  Other than information disclosed elsewhere in this 
annual report, information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of 
those operations in future financial years has not been included in this directors' report because the directors 
believe, on reasonable grounds, that to include such information would be likely to result in unreasonable 
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prejudice to the Group. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

The Group’s operations are subject to activities are governed by a range of environmental regulation under 
State legislation.  As the Group is still in the development phase of its interests in exploration projects, it is not 
yet subject to the public reporting requirements of environmental legislation.  To the best of the Directors’ 
knowledge, the Group has adequate systems in place to ensure compliance with the requirements of the 
applicable environmental legislation and is not aware of any breach of those requirements during the financial 
year and up to the date of the Directors’ Report. 

National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 

This is an Act to provide for the reporting and dissemination of information related to greenhouse gas 
emissions, greenhouse gas projects, energy production and energy consumption, and for other purposes.  The 
Entity is not subject to the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007. 

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

(a) Indemnification 

The Company has agreed to indemnify the current Directors and Company Secretary of the Company against 
all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their 
position as Directors and Company Secretary of the Company, except where the liability arises out of conduct 
involving a lack of good faith. 

The Agreement stipulates that the Company will meet to the maximum extent permitted by law, the full 
amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses. 

(b) Insurance Premiums 

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Company paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors and 
Officers Liability Insurance for Directors and Officers of the Company.  The liabilities insured are for damages 
and legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the 
Directors and Officers in their capacity as Directors and Officers of the Company to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001.  On 29 July 2016, the AAT Research Limited paid an insurance premium of $3,272 
(equivalent to Euro 2,220) covering the period from 29 July 2016 to 28 July 2017 (2015: A$3028 (equivalent to 
Euro 2,000)) and on 9 August 2016, the Neurotech International Limited paid an insurance premium of 
$13,950 covering the period from 9 August 2016 to 8 August 2017.   

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of 
non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for Auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  

The Board and the Audit and Risk Committee have considered the non-audit services provided during the 
financial year by the Auditor and are satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the 
financial year by the Auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the Auditor’s independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the followings reasons: 

(a) all non-audit services were subject to the Corporate Governance procedures adopted by the Company; 
and  
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(b) the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principals relating to Auditor 
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not 
involve reviewing or auditing the Auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making 
capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditor of the 
parent entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Non-Assurance Services   

BDO Corporate Finance – Investigating Accountants Report 9,000 - 

Total remuneration for other assurance services 9,000 - 

Taxation and Other services   

Chris Baldacchino & Associates (equivalent to €47,813 (2015: €34,260)) 72,751 50,613 

Total remuneration for Taxation and Other services 72,751 50,613 

Total remuneration for non-audit services 81,751 50,613 

 
AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The Auditors Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 
year ended 30 June 2016 has been received and can be found on page 9. 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations Legislative Instrument 2016/191, issued by 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’.  Amounts in this report have 
been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest dollar, or in certain cases, the nearest 
thousand dollars.   

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors, pursuant to section 298(2) (a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors. 

 

Simon Trevisan 
Non-Executive Director 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia, this 12th September 2016 

 

Wolfgang Johannes Storf 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia, this 12th September 2016 



 

38 Station Street  
Subiaco, WA 6008 
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872 
Australia 

 

Tel: +61 8 6382 4600 
Fax: +61 8 6382 4601 
www.bdo.com.au 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 
77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK 
company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY JARRAD PRUE TO THE DIRECTORS OF NEUROTECH 

INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 

As lead auditor of Neurotech International Limited for the period ended 30 June 2016, I declare that, 

to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

This declaration is in respect of Neurotech International Limited and the entities it controlled during 

the period. 

 

 

 

Jarrad Prue 

Director 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

Perth, 12 September 2016 
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 CONSOLIDATED 

 
Notes 30 June 2016 ($) 

(6 months) 
31 December 2015 ($) 

(12 months) 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS    

Revenue 3 126,667 215,231 

Cost of sales  (43,304) (84,063) 

Other income 4 41,158 101,010 

Interest Income  150 - 

Professional Consultant and Advisory   (98,719) (36,357) 

Professional Legal Fees  (42,888) (12,011) 

Corporate and Administration  expenses  (222,626) (172,757) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense   (120,525) (110,011) 

Finance costs  (54,453) (33,362) 

Settlement Expenses  (113,913) - 

Advertising and Marketing   (36,802) (37,776) 

Impairment expense  (202,340) - 

Employee benefits expense 5 (469,461) (435,982) 

Share Based Payments Expense 6 (875,095) - 

Equipment and materials direct cost   (4,040) (30,616) 

Other expenses  (65,155) (202,718) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX  (2,181,346) (839,413) 

Income tax expense 7 - - 

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER INCOME TAX  (2,181,346) (839,413) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  - - 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss:    

Exchange Difference on translation of foreign operations  15,272 (141,031) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  (2,166,074) (980,444) 

Total comprehensive loss for the period is:    

Attributable to the owner of Neurotech International 
Ltd     

Basic loss per share (cents per share)  (5.95) (2.58) 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are to be read in conjunction 

with the accompanying notes. 
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 CONSOLIDATED 

 
Notes 30 June 2016 ($) 

(6 months) 
31 December 2015 ($) 

(12 months) 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,007,536 1,881,635 

Trade and other receivables 9 247,271 213,399 

Inventories 10 186,537 23,665 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  1,441,344 2,118,699 

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Property, plant and equipment 11 551,323 382,388 

Intangible assets 12 931,834 781,956 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  1,483,158 1,164,344 

TOTAL ASSETS  2,924,502 3,283,043 

     

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 13 507,513 209,613 

Short-term borrowings 14 621,709 1,401,339 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,129,222 1,610,952 

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Long-term borrowings 14 323,900 377,413 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABITLIES  323,900 377,413 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,453,122 1,988,365 

NET ASSETS  1,471,380 1,294,678 

    

EQUITY    

Contributed Equity  15 3,977,804 2,621,963 

Other Reserves 16 850,304 (151,903) 

Accumulated Loss 17 (3,356,728) (1,175,382) 

TOTAL EQUITY  1,471,380 1,294,678 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Contributed Equity ($) Accumulated Losses ($) Foreign Currency 
Translation Reserve 

($) 

Total ($) 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 December 2015     

Balance at 1 January 2015 187,800 (335,969) (10,872) (159,041) 

Profit/(Loss) for the year - (839,413) - (839,413) 

Exchange Difference - - (141,031) (141,031) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) - (839,413) (141,031) (980,444) 

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders     

Contribution of Equity 2,434,163 - - 2,434,163 

Balance at 31 December 2015 2,621,963 (1,175,382) (151,903) 1,294,678 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Contributed Equity 
($) 

Accumulated 
Losses ($) 

Capital Reserve 
($) 

Option Premium 
Reserve ($) 

Foreign Currency 
Translation 
Reserve ($) 

Total ($) 

FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2016       

Balance at 1 January 2016 2,621,963 (1,175,382) - - (151,903) 1,294,678 

Profit/(Loss) for the period - (2,181,346) - - - (2,181,346) 

Exchange Difference  - - -  15,272 15,272 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) - (2,181,346) - - 15,272 (2,166,074) 

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity 
as equity holders       

Capital Reserve - - 111,840 - - 111,840 

Contribution of Equity 1,418,289 - - - - 1,418,289 

Share issue cost (62,448) - - - - (62,448) 

Employee Share Options - - - 875,095 - 875,095 

Balance at 30 June 2016 3,977,804 (3,356,728) 111,840 875,095 (136,631) 1,471,380 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 CONSOLIDATED 

 
Notes 30 June 2016 ($) 

(6 months) 
31 December 2015 ($) 

(12 months) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  162,216 268,067 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (893,699) (1,085,915) 

Finance Costs  (54,453) (33,362) 

Interest received  150 - 

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 18 (785,786) (851,210) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  - - 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (210,532) (337,498) 

Payments for Intangible assets  (415,550) (624,014) 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (626,082) (961,512) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from issue of shares  1,000,000 2,305,411 

Repayment of borrowings  (498,547) (8,922) 

Payment of Share Issue Costs  (62,448) - 

Proceeds from borrowings  83,693 1,401,768 

NET CASH PROVDIED BY/USED IN FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES  522,698 3,698,257 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (889,170) 1,885,535 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  1,881,635 2,040 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents  15,071 (5,940) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 8 1,007,536 1,881,635 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The primary accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Statements are set out below.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) General Information 

Neurotech International Limited (Company) or (Entity) is a public Company limited by shares, incorporated in 
Australia with operations in Malta.  The Consolidated Financial Report of the Company as at and for the year 
ended 30 June 2016 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Consolidated 
Entity’).   

The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 14, 191 St Georges Terrace, Perth WA 6000, Australia.  
The Company is primarily involved in researches, designs, develops and manufactures quality medical 
solutions and medical devices, through the use of hardware, software or technology of any kind, that improve 
people’s quality of life.  

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Neurotech International Limited (the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) has resolved to change its consolidated financial year end from 31 December to 30 
June.  Accordingly, the current financial statements are for a 6 month period to 30 June 2016; the 
comparatives are for the period ended 31 December 2015.  

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Consolidated Entity are described in the Directors’ 
Report. 

(b) Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001.  Neurotech International Limited is a for profit entity for the purpose of preparing 
the Financial Statements. 

(i) Compliance with IFRS 

The Financial Statements of the Company also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB). 

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12th September 2016. 

(ii) Historical cost convention 

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis and is based on historical costs modified by the 
revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis 
of accounting has been applied. 

All amounts are presented in Australia dollars, unless otherwise noted. 

(iii) Going Concern 

The Directors are satisfied that the going concern assumption has been appropriately applied in preparing the 
financial statements and the historical financial information has been prepared on a going concern basis, 
which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement 
of liabilities in the normal course of business.  
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For the 6 months ended 30 June 2016 the group made a loss of $2,181,346 and had cash outflows from 
operating activities of $785,786. The ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue as a going concern is 
dependent on securing additional funding through the issue of equity as part of the proposed IPO under the 
Prospectus. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt about the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.  

The Directors believe that the Consolidated Entity will continue as a going concern due to current working 
capital and expected successful fundraising through the issue of equity as part of the planned IPO. As a result 
the financial information has been prepared on a going concern basis.  

Should the Consolidated Entity be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its 
assets and discharge its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ 
from those stated in the financial statements.  The financial report does not include any adjustments relating 
to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or liabilities that might be necessary should 
the entity not continue as a going concern. 

(c) Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of the Financial Statements requires Management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the Financial Statements.  Management continually evaluates 
its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.  
Management bases its judgments and estimates on historical experience and on other various factors it 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the Financial Statements 
are outlined below: 

(i) Significant Accounting Judgments 

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

(ii) Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

Critical Accounting Estimate 

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  The Group makes assumptions concerning the future.  All judgments, estimates and 
assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances available to 
Management.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  
The judgments, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts and assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
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Development costs  

Pursuant to AASB 138 Intangible Assets, the company has assessed the best estimate of the probability that 
the expected future benefits attributable to the Group’s project development costs will flow to the entity. As a 
result, development costs directly attributable to projects such as Mente have been recognised as an 
intangible asset. These costs are being amortised over a period of 5 years. 

Amortisation methods and useful life of intangible assets 

The group amortised intangible assets with a limited useful life using the straight-line method over the 
following periods: 

• Capitalised development costs  3-5years  

• Patents and Trademarks licenses 5-15years 

• Development and software  3-5years 

• Customer contracts   3-5years 

Impairment of assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of 
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. 

Share based payments 

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes 
option pricing model. 

(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(i) Principles of Consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all the subsidiaries that 
Neurotech International Limited (‘the Parent Entity’) has the power to control the Consolidated Entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the Consolidated Entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the Consolidated Entity, 
the financial and operating policies as at 30 June 2016 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year ended 30 
June 2016.  All inter-company balances and transactions between the Group and the Consolidated Entity, 
including any unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.  Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies with those policies applied by the 
Consolidated Entity. The group has been restructured as part of an IPO process with Neurotech International 
Limited being incorporated on 15 January 2016. During the period Neurotech International Limited acquired 
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AAT Research Ltd and its subsidiaries AAT Medical Ltd, AAT Services Ltd and AAT Intellectual Property Ltd 
through a series of agreements. The transaction represents a common control transaction and has been 
accounted for as a continuation of AAT Research Ltd. 

The group has changed its consolidated financial statements year end date from 31 December to 30 June. 
Accordingly, the forthcoming financial year end date of the Group will be 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017. 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Consolidated Entity.  The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases.  The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with 
the policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity. 

In the Consolidated Entity’s Financial Statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost.  The Financial 
Statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies.  

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and 
expenses and profit and losses resulting from inter-entity transactions have been eliminated in full.  Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.  
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

The investments in subsidiaries held by Neurotech International Limited are accounted for at cost in the 
separate Financial Statements of the Company less any impairment charges.  The acquisition of subsidiaries is 
accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  The acquisition method of accounting involves 
allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 

(ii) Foreign Currency 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the Financial Statements of each of the Company entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the Entity operates (‘the functional currency’).  The Consolidated 
Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars (A$), which is Neurotech International Limited’s 
functional and presentation currency. 

The functional currency of the subsidiaries of Neurotech International Limited incorporated in Malta is the 
Euro (EUR€). 

Foreign currency transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange 
rates ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
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foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Translation of Foreign Operations 

The Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income is translated at the average exchange rates 
for the year. 

The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity.  On 
disposal of the foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular 
foreign operation will be recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.  

(iv) Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade debtors are recognised at the amount receivable and are due for settlement within 30 days from the 
end of the month in which services were provided.  Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off against the receivable directly unless 
a provision for impairment has previously been recognised. 

A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.  Loans granted are recognised at the amount of 
consideration given or the cost of services provided to be reimbursed. 

(v) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 
buyer. 

Sale of services 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of the services provided have passed on to the 
buyer. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.  The effective interest method 
uses the effective interest rate which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over 
the expected life of the financial asset. 
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Government Grants 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and the group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to 
the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and 
are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. 

(vi) Fair value estimation for financial instruments 

Fair values may be used for financial asset and liability measurement as well as for sundry disclosures.  Fair 
values for financial instruments traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at Statement of 
Financial Position date.  The quoted market price for financial assets is the current bid price and the quoted 
market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. 

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined using valuation 
techniques.  Assumptions used are based on observable market prices and rates at Statement of Financial 
Position date.  The fair value of long-term debt instruments is determined using quoted market prices for 
similar instruments. Estimated discounted cash flows are used to determine fair value of the remaining 
financial instruments.  The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange 
market rates at the Statement of Financial Position date.  The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as 
the present value of estimated future cash flows. 

The fair value of trade receivables and payables is their nominal value less estimated credit adjustments.  A 
financial instrument is recognised if the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.  Financial assets are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial assets expire or if the Consolidated Entity transfers the financial asset to another party 
without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.  Regular purchases and sales of 
financial assets are accounted for at trade date, (i.e. the date that the Consolidated Entity commits itself to 
purchase or sell the asset).  Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s obligations 
specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits greater than 3 months are classified as 
held to maturity investments and valued at amortised costs. 

(vii) Investments and Other Financial Assets 

Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, held‑to‑maturity investments and available‑for‑sale financial assets.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held‑to‑maturity, 
re‑evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting date. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non‑derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market.  They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 
12 months after the reporting period which are classified as non‑current assets.  Loans and receivables are 
included in trade and other receivables and payable in the Statement of Financial Position. 
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(viii) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful life. 

The annual rates used for this purpose, which are consistent with those used in previous years, are as follows: 

Improvements to premises 10% 

Furniture and fittings 20% 

Computer equipment and software 20-25% 

Medical and other equipment 25% 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial 
year in which they are incurred. 

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of 
financial position date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 
included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves are 
transferred to retained earnings. 

(ix) Intangible assets 

Website Development Costs 

The Company capitalised certain costs associated with website development. Capitalisation of website 
development costs begins at the start of the application development stage and ceases once testing is 
complete and the website is placed in operation. 

Additional costs may also be capitalised subsequent to the date the website is placed in operation if the 
modifications result in additional functionality. Website development costs are amortised using the 
straight-line method over the period of five years. 

Project Development Costs – Medical Equipment 

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
medical equipment products controlled by the company are recognised as intangible assets when the 
following criteria are met: 

• it is technically feasible to complete the product so that it will be available for use; 

• management intends to complete the product and use or sell it; 

• there is an ability to use or sell the product; 
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• it can be demonstrated how the product will generate probable future economic benefits; 

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 
product are available; and 

• the expenditure attributable to the product during its development can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the medical equipment product include the 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Other development 
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Medical 
equipment product development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful 
lives, which does not exceed five years. 

Patents and trademarks 

Patents and trademarks are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
respective medical equipment. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of five to fifteen 
years. Significant costs associated with patents and trademarks are deferred and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being their finite useful life of up to 15 years and are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Software 

Significant costs associated with software are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
period of their expected benefit, being their finite life of 5 years. 

Research and development 

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects 
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is 
probable that the project will, after considering its commercial and technical feasibility, be completed and 
generate future economic benefits and its costs can be measured reliably. The expenditure capitalised 
comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as 
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 
in a subsequent period. Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from 
the point at which the asset is ready for use. 

(x) Income Tax Expenses or Benefit 

The income tax expense or benefit (revenue) for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable 
income based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the Financial Statements, and to unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, between carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases, at the tax rates expected 
to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or 
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction.  Exceptions are made for certain temporary differences arising on 
initial recognition of an asset or a liability if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, 
that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit.  Deferred tax assets 
are only recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses if it is probable that future 
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taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax bases of investments in controlled entities, associates and interests in joint ventures where the Parent 
Entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.  Current and deferred tax balances relating to 
amounts recognised directly in equity. 

Neurotech International Limited and its resident subsidiaries have unused tax losses.  However, no deferred 
tax balances have been recognised, as it is considered that asset recognition criteria have not been met at this 
time. 

(xi) Goods and Services Tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where GST incurred on a purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flow on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authorities are classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority. 

(xii) Comparatives 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 

(xiii) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the 
amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where it is 
expected that some or all of a provision is to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate 
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented 
in the statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 

(xiv) Trade and Other Payables 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not 
billed to the Consolidated Entity.  Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days. Amounts due to 
related parties are carried at cost. 

(xv) Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of issue costs incurred. In subsequent 
periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Any difference between 
proceeds (net of issue costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
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Income over the period of the borrowings using the effective yield method. 

(xvi) Employee Benefits 

Short term Employee Benefit Obligations  

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ service up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  The liability for accumulating 
sick leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit 
obligations are presented as payables. 

Other long-term Employee Benefit Obligations 

Liabilities for long service leave and annual leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.  They are therefore recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method.  Consideration is given to the expected future salaries and wages levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period of government bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and 
changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income.   

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position if the Entity does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless 
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 

Termination Benefits  

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal 
retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The 
Company recognised termination benefits at the earlier of the followings dates: 

(a) when the Company can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and 

(b) when the Entity recognised costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of AASB 137 and involves the 
payment of terminations benefits. 

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured 
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value. 

Share-based payments 

The fair value of options granted under Neurotech International Limited is recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments reserve).  The fair value is measured 
at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to 
the options.  The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of 
dilution, the non-tradable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of 
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the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, 
profitability and sales growth targets).  Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the 
number of options that are expected to become exercisable.  At each Statement of Financial Position date, the 
Entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.  The employee 
benefit expense recognised in each period takes into account the most recent estimate. 

The market value of shares issued to employees for no cash consideration under the Employee Share Scheme 
is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity when the employees 
become entitled to the shares. 

Share-based Payment Transactions 

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees (including Key Management Personnel) is 
recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.  The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of share options for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions 
are met. 

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Consolidated Entity receives goods or services as 
consideration for its own equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained by the Consolidated Entity. 

(xvii) Inventories 

Inventories consist of autism related neurofeedback medical equipment being held for resale, and are valued 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost is determined on the first-in first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the expected selling expenses. 

(xviii) Contributed Equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from the equity 
proceeds, net of any income tax benefit.  Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
associated with the acquisition of a business are included as part of the purchase consideration. 

(xix) Earnings or Loss per share 

Basic earnings or loss per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to members of the 
Parent Entity for the reporting period by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company. 

(xx) Determination of Fair Values 

A number of the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair 
value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  Fair values have been determined for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.  Where applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the Notes specific to that 
asset or liability. 
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Trade and Other Receivables 

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted 
at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
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(xxi) New accounting standards and interpretations 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted by the Consolidated Entity for 
the year ended 30 June 2016.  These are outlined in the table below.  

AASB 
Reference 

Title Summary Application Date of 
Standard 

Impact on Consolidated Financial 
Report 

Application 
Date for Group 

AASB 9 
Financial 
Instruments 
(December 
2010)  
 

AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: 
Recognition and 
Measurement 

AASB 9 (December 2014) is a new Principal standard which replaces AASB 139. This 
new Principal version supersedes AASB 9 issued in December 2009 & 2010 and 
includes a model for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking 
‘expected loss’ impairment model and a substantially-reformed approach to hedge 
accounting.  
AASB 9 is effective for annual periods beginning in or after 01 January 2018. 
However, the Standard is available for early application. The own credit changes 
can be early applied in isolation without otherwise changing the accounting for 
financial instruments. 
The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model that 
will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. Specifically, the new 
standard requires entities to account for expected credit losses from when financial 
instruments are first recognised and to recognise full lifetime expected losses on a 
more timely basis. 
Amendments to AASB 9 issued in December 2013 included the new hedge 
accounting requirements, including changes to hedge effectiveness testing, 
treatment of hedging costs, risk components that can be hedged and disclosures. 
These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and 
measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139.  
The main changes are:  
(a) Financial assets that are debt instruments will be classified based on: 

(1) the objective of the Entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets; and 

(2) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.  
(b) Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and 

losses on investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in 
other comprehensive income (instead of in profit or loss).  Dividends in 
respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be 
recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on 
disposal of the instrument.  

(c) Financial assets can be designated and measured at fair value through profit 
or loss at initial recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains and losses on them, on different 
bases.  

(d) Where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities the change in fair 
value is to be accounted for as follows:  

Periods beginning 
on or after 

01 January 2018 

The Entity has not yet assessed the 
full impact of AASB 9 as this standard 
does not apply mandatorily before 1 
January 2018 and the IASB is yet to 
finalise the remaining phases of its 
project to replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. 
(AASB 139 in Australia).  
 

01 July 2018 
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AASB 
Reference 

Title Summary Application Date of 
Standard 

Impact on Consolidated Financial 
Report 

Application 
Date for Group 

 The change attributable to changes in credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income (OCI); and  

 The remaining change is presented in profit or loss.  
AASB 9 also removes the volatility in profit or loss that was caused by changes in 
the credit risk of liabilities elected to be measured at fair value. This change in 
accounting means that gains caused by the deterioration of an Entity’s own credit 
risk on such liabilities are no longer recognised in profit and loss. 

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Accounting for 
Acquisitions of 
Interests in Joint 
Operations 

AASB 2014-3 amends AASB 11 to provide guidance on the accounting for 
acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a 
business. The amendments require: 
(a) The acquirer of the interest in a joint operation in which the activity 

constitutes a business, as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations, to apply 
all of the principles on business combinations accounting in AASB 3 and other 
Australian Accounting Standards except for those principles that conflict with 
the guidance in AASB 11; and 

(b) The acquirer to disclose the information required by AASB 3 and other 
Australian Accounting Standards for business combinations.  
This standard also makes an editorial correction to AASB 11 

1 January 2016 The Entity does not apply mandatorily 
before 1 January 2016 

01 July 2016 

AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
which replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related 
interpretations (IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmed, IFRIC 15 Agreements for 
the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and 
SIC-31 Revenue Barter Transactions involving Advertising Services). 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an Entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. An Entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core 
principle by applying the following steps: 
(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the 

contract. 
(e) Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the Entity satisfies a performance 

obligation. 
Early application of this standard permitted. 
AASB 2014-5 incorporates the consequential amendments to a number Australian 
Accounting Standards (including interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 
15. 

1 January 2018 The Entity does not apply mandatorily 
before 1 January 2017 
 

01 July 2018 

AASB 2016-1  Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Recognition of 

The standard amends AASB 112 Income Taxes to clarify the recognition of deferred 
tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value, such as 
fixed rate bonds. The amendments adopt equivalent international changes released 
by the IASB as International Financial Reporting Standard Recognition of Deferred 

1 January 2016 The Entity does not apply mandatorily 
before 1 January 2017 
 

01 July 2016 
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AASB 
Reference 

Title Summary Application Date of 
Standard 

Impact on Consolidated Financial 
Report 

Application 
Date for Group 

Deferred Tax Assets 
for Unrealised Losses 

Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses in January 2016. Both apply to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 

AASB 2016-2  Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure 
Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 
107 

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require 
entities preparing financial statements in accordance with Tier 1 reporting 
requirements to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. 

1 January 2017 The Entity does not apply mandatorily 
before 1 January 2017 

01 July 2017 

AASB 16  Leases This is the Australian equivalent of the recently released IFRS 16 Leases. It 
significantly reforms the lessee accounting requirements contained in its 
predecessor AASB 117 while making only minor changes to the lessor 
requirements. AASB 16 applies to financial reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019 and early adoption is permitted if an entity is applying, or has already 
applied, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at the same time. The 
IASB and others have published a range of resources to assist stakeholders 
understand and implement the new standard and these can be accessed via the 
IASB project page, the IASB’s new Leases Implementation page (see below) and CA 
ANZ's Leases resources page. AASB 16 also makes a range of consequential 
amendments to 26 other standards and interpretations detailed in Appendix D of 
the standard. 

1 January 2019 The Entity does not apply mandatorily 
before 1 January 2019 

01 July 2019 

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards –Annual 
improvements to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012-2014 
Cycle.  

The subjects of the principal amendments to the Standards are set out below: 
AASB 5 Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: 
• Changes in methods of disposal – where an Entity reclassifies an asset (or 

disposal group) directly from being held for distributions to being held for sale 
(or vice versa), an Entity shall not follow the guidance in paragraphs 27-29 to 
account for this change. 

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 
• Servicing contracts – clarifies how an Entity should apply the guidance in 

paragraph 42c of AASB 7 to a servicing contract to decide whether a servicing 
contract is ‘continuing involvement’ for the purposes of applying the 
disclosure requirements in paragraphs 42E-42H of AASB7. 

• Applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to condensed interim financial 
statements – clarify that the additional disclosure required by the 
amendments to AASB 7 Disclosure - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities is not specifically required for all interim periods. However, the 
additional disclosure is required to be given in condensed interim Financial 
Statements that are pre-parted in accordance with AASB 134 interim Financial 
Reporting when its inclusion would be required by the requirements of AASB 
134. 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits: 
• Discount rate: regional market issue – clarifies that the high quality corporate 

bonds used to estimate the discount rate for post-employment benefit 
obligations should be denominated in the same currency as the liability. 

1 January 2016 The Entity does not apply mandatorily 
before 1 January 2016 

01 July 2016 
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AASB 
Reference 

Title Summary Application Date of 
Standard 

Impact on Consolidated Financial 
Report 

Application 
Date for Group 

Further it clarifies that the depth of the market for high quality corporate 
bonds should be assessed at the currency level. 

AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting: 
• Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report” - amends 

AASB 134 to clarify the meaning of disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the 
interim financial report’ and to require the inclusion of a cross-reference from 
the interim financial statements to the location of this information. 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are expected to have a material impact on the Entity in the current or future reporting periods.
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

i. Overview 

The financial risks arising from the Group’s operations comprise market, liquidity and credit risk.  These risks 
arise in the normal course of business, and the Group manages its exposure to them in accordance with the 
Group’s portfolio risk management strategy. 

The objective of the strategy is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets while protecting its 
future financial security and flexibility by taking advantage of the natural diversification provided by the scale, 
diversity and flexibility of the Group’s operations and activities. 

This Note presents information about the Consolidated Entity's exposure to each of the above risks, their 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring risk and the management of capital. 

The Group's Risk Management Framework is supported by the Board, Management and the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Board is responsible for approving and reviewing the Consolidated Entity's Risk Management 
Strategy and Policy. Management is responsible for monitoring appropriate processes for identifying, 
monitoring and managing significant business risks faced by the Consolidated Entity and considering the 
effectiveness of its internal control system. Management and the Audit and Risk Committee report to the 
Board. 

The Board has established an overall Risk Management Policy which sets out the Consolidated Entity's system 
of risk oversight, management of material business risks and internal control. 

The Consolidated Entity holds the following financial instruments: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 1,007,536 1,881,635 

Trade and other receivables 108,001 99,646 

 1,115,537 1,981,281 

Financial Liabilities   

Trade and other payable 507,513 209,613 

Borrowing 945,609 1,778,752 

 1,453,122 1,988,365 

 
ii. Financial Risk Management Objectives 

The overall financial Risk Management Strategy focuses on the unpredictability of the finance markets and 
seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on financial performance and protect future financial security. 

iii. Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of the financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations and the risk arises principally from the Group's cash and cash 
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equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, and receivables.   

For banks and financial institutions, the Group banks only with financial institution with high quality standing 
or rating. Receivables are presented net of an allowance for doubtful debts.  An allowance for doubtful debts 
is made where there is an identified loss event, which based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction 
in the recoverability of the cash flows. 

Credit risk with respect to receivables is limited due to credit control procedures and the large number of 
customers comprising the Group’s receivables base. Cash at bank is placed with reliable financial institutions.   

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to 
historical information about counterparty default rates. 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Trade receivables   

Counterparties without external credit rating   

Group 1 – new customers (less than 6 months)  - - 

Group 2 – existing customers (less than 6 months) with no 
defaults in the past 15,068 9,459 

Group 3 – existing customers (more than 6 months) with no 
defaults in the past 92,933 90,187 

 108,001 99,646 

Cash at bank and Commercial Bills **   

Cash at bank – St George Bank and Bank of Valletta Plc. 505,375 1,881,635 

Petty cash account 2,161 - 

Commercial Bills – St George Bank 500,000 - 

 1,007,536 1,881,635 
**Bank of Valletta is currently rated ‘BBB+’ by an international rating agency and St George Bank has an “AA” credit rating. 

Exposure to Credit Risk 

The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity's financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 
The Consolidated Entity's maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,007,536 1,881,635 

Trade and other receivables 108,001 99,646 

Total 1,115,537 1,981,281 

 
iv. Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Consolidated Entity and the Consolidated Entity's 
subsequent ability to meet their obligations to repay their financial liabilities as and when they fall due. 
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Ultimate responsibility for Liquidity Risk Management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board has 
determined an appropriate Liquidity Risk Management Framework for the management of the Group’s short, 
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves and continuously monitoring budgeted and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets, expenditure commitments and liabilities. 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 
months equal their carrying amounts as the impact of the discounting is not significant. 

Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities 

Less than 
6 months ($) 

6 – 12 
months ($) 

More than     
12 months ($) 

Total ($) Carrying 
Amount ($) 

Group - at 30 June 2016      

Trade payables 243,312 -  243,312 243,312 

Borrowings  - 621,709 323,900 945,609 945,609 

Total 243,312 621,709 323,900 1,188,921 1,188,921 

      

Group - at 31 December 2015      

Trade payables 158,062 - - 158,062 158,062 

Borrowings  - 1,401,339 377,413 1,778,752 1,778,752 

Total 158,062 1,401,339 377,413 1,936,814 1,936,814 

 
As at 30 June 2016, the Group had borrowings of A$945,609 (2015:A$1,778,752), Borrowings have been used 
for the purchase of equipment, in the fit out of the main office and laboratory facilities as well as general 
working capital.  

v. Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and commodity prices may 
affect the Consolidated Entity's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
Market Risk Management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising return. 

Foreign Currency and Exchange Risk 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to currency risk on financial assets or liabilities that are denominated in a 
currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Consolidated Entity's, the Australian Dollar 
(AUD) for Parent Entity and Euro (EUR) for the subsidiaries of Consolidated Entity. 

At the end of the reporting period the Group did not have any exposure to fluctuations in the prevailing 
foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows since it had no financial assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currency.  

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates as it has operational liabilities in Euro. 
There has been no material exposure to non-functional currency amounts during the financial year. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Consolidated Entity's exposure to interest rates primarily relates to the Consolidated Entity's cash and 
cash equivalents. 
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As the Consolidated Entity has no significant interest bearing assets, its income and operating cash flows are 
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.  Bank borrowings issued at variable rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.  Management monitors the level of floating rate borrowings 
as a measure of cash flow risk taken on. 

Profile 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s and the Entity’s interest bearing financial 
instruments are: 

Variable Rate Instruments 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
30 June 2016 ($) 

(6 months) 
30 June 2016 ($) 

(6 months) 

Financial Assets 1,007,536 1,881,635 

Financial Liabilities 945,609 1,778,752 

 61,927 102,883 

 
As at 30 June 2016, the Group had net cash of A$61,927, comprising borrowings of A$945,609 (EUR 632,984), 
and cash reserves (including bank guarantees) of A$1,007,536 (EUR 216,003 and AUD 682,690). 

Borrowings have been used for the purchase of equipment, in the fit out of the main office and laboratory 
facilities as well as general working capital.  

The average interest rates on the Group’s borrowings were as follows: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Bank overdrafts 5.65% 5.65% 

Bank loans 5.65% 5.65% 

Maturity of non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings AUD Equivalent AUD Equivalent  

Between 1 and 2 years 99,157 113,109 

Between 2 and 5 years 200,907 135,517 

5 years and over 23,836 128,786 
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The Group manages its interest rate risk by monitoring available interest rates while maintaining an overriding 
position of security whereby the majority of cash and cash equivalents are held in AA-rated bank accounts.  
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and effective weighted average interest rate by maturing periods is 
set out in tables below. 

 

 
Up to the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any hedging policy with respect to interest rate 
risk as exposure to such risk was not deemed to be significant by the directors since these assets are of a short 
term nature.  Management considers the potential impact on profit or loss of a defined interest rate shift that 
is reasonably probable at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial. 

Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis for Variable Rate Instruments 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  The Board assessed a 100 basis point movement as being 
reasonably possible based on forward treasury rate projections.  This analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant.   

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Consolidated Entity’s 
profit or loss by $10,075 (2015: $18,816). 

 Weighted Average 
Effective Interest Rate 

Floating 
Interest Rate 

Maturing 
within 1 Year 

Non- Interest 
Bearing Total 

 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 1.5% - - 1,007,536 1,007,536 

Trade and other receivables - - - 247,271 247,271 

Total Financial Assets - - - 1,254,807 1,254,807 

Trade and other payables - - - 507,513 507,513 

Borrowings 5.65% 323,900 621,709 - 945,609 

Total Financial Liabilities - 323,900 621,709 507,513 1,453,122 

 Weighted Average 
Effective Interest Rate 

Floating 
Interest Rate 

Maturing 
within 1 Year 

Non- Interest 
Bearing Total 

 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 1.50% - - 1,881,635 1,881,635 

Trade and other receivables - - - 213,399 213,399 

Total Financial Assets - - - 2,095,034 2,095,034 

Trade and other payables - - - 209,613 209,613 

Borrowings 5.65% 497,831 888,201 392,720 1,778,752 

Total Financial Liabilities - 497,831 888,201 602,333 1,988,365 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NEUROTECH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016 PAGE 35 

 +1% (100 basis 
points) ($) 

-1% (100 basis 
points) ($) 

+1% (100 basis 
points) ($) 

-1% (100 basis 
points) ($) 

 2016 2016 2015 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents 10,075 (10,075) 18,816 (18,816) 

Borrowings (9,456) 9,456 (17,787) 17,787 

 619 (619) 1,029 (1,029) 

 
vi. Capital Management 

When managing capital, the Board’s objective is to ensure the Consolidated Entity continues as a going 
concern as well as to maintain optimal returns to Shareholders and benefits for other Stakeholders.  The Board 
also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the Consolidated 
Entity. 

The Board is constantly adjusting the capital structure to take advantage of favorable costs of capital or high 
return on assets.  As the market is constantly changing Management may issue new shares, sell assets to 
reduce debt. 

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of 
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position although there is no formal 
policy regarding gearing levels whilst this position has not changed. 

The Consolidated Entity has no formal financing and gearing policy or criteria during the year having regard to 
the early status of its development and low level of activity.  This position has not changed from the previous 
year. 

vii. Fair value measurements 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on estimated future cash flow.  There are currently no assets and liabilities which require fair 
valuing under the measurement hierarchy.  Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts of the 
current receivables, current payables and current borrowings are assumed to approximate their fair value. 

3. REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

Turnover represents the invoiced value of all kind of medical equipment and services sold by the Group during 
the financial year under review. 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Sales Mente Products 126,667 135,507 

Sales Medical Services - 79,724 

 126,667 215,231 
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4. OTHER INCOME 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Award winnings 7,918 - 

Income from grants (i) 31,831 98,022 

Shipping of Sales Products 1,409 2,988 

 41,158 101,010 

 
Government grants 

Government grants of $31,831 (equivalent to Euro 20,919.85) relate to the refunds from the Malta Enterprise 
for the Medical, Rehacare & Conference costs. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies 
attaching to these grants. The group did not benefit directly from any other forms of government assistance. 

Deferral and presentation of government grants  

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary 
to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.  

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives 
of the related assets.  

5. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 

Staff costs 

The total employment costs for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 were as follows: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Directors’ remuneration 89,519 256,440 

Wages and salaries 577,838 675,501 

Employer’s share of national insurance contribution 23,824 38,643 

Recruitment and Redundancy payments 151,717 727 

Less: Amounts transferred to development costs (373,437) (535,329) 

 469,461 435,982 

 
6. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  

The primary purpose of the Director options for the services already provided by Directors to drive the 
Company’s assets forward.  All options granted to Key Management Personnel are over ordinary shares in 
Neurotech International Limited, which confer a right of one ordinary share for every option held. 
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Options  

The group has agreed to issue options to Directors (or entities in which a Director has a relevant interest), and 
others as set out in the table below for services rendered to the company. 

Holder of relevant interest Number of Options to be issued 

Krystle Attard Trevisan1 1,864,000 

Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd2 1,864,000 

Shimano Ventures Ltd3 2,060,334 

Avonmore Holdings Group Ltd4  1,631,000 

Angelica Micallef Trigona 130,480 

Bruce A. McCracken 349,500 

TOTAL 7,899,314 

1. These Securities are currently registered in the name of Mario Attard Trevisan as trustee of the Paloma Trust. However, Krystle Attard 
Trevisan has a legal right to become registered holder of these Securities, and will become the registered holder of these Securities as 
trustee of the Paloma Trust. Adrian Attard Trevisan has a relevant interest in these Securities as a beneficiary of the Paloma Trust. 

2. Held by Shimano Ventures Ltd as trustee for The Griffiths Family Trust.  Peter Griffiths has a relevant interest in these Securities as a 
director and controlling shareholder of Shimano Ventures Ltd and as a beneficiary of The Griffiths Family Trust. 

3. Held by Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd.  Simon Trevisan has a relevant interest in these Securities as a director, joint controller 
and substantial shareholder of Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd.  

4. Held by Avonmore Holdings Group Ltd. Peter O’Connor has a relevant interest in these Securities as a beneficiary of this family trust. 

Set out below are summaries of options granted: 

2016 
Grant Date 

Expiry Date Exercise 
price 

Balance 
at start 

of the 
year 

number 

Agreed to 
be granted 
during the 

year 
number 

Exercised 
during the 

year 
number 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 
number 

Balance 
at end of 
the year 
number 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end of the 
year number 

09/05/2016 30/11/2020 $0.20 - 7,899,314 - - 7,899,314  

Weight average exercise price  - - - $0.20 - 

The weighted average share price at the date of agreement of options during the year ended 30 June 2016 was 
$0.16 (2015–Nil). 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 
4.42 years (2015–Nil). 

Fair value of Options Agreed to be Granted 

The assessed fair value at grant date of options agreed to be issued during the year ended 30 June 2016 was 
$0.1108 per option (2015– Nil).  The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes 
option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, 
the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield 
and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

Options Expensed  

The fair value of the options which the company has agreed to issue has been recognized as an expense in the 
period ended 30 June 2016 as the options were issued for services provided and there are no future vesting 
conditions. The fair value of option at grant date is independently determined using a Black Scholes option 
valuation methodology that takes into account the exercise price. 
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The following share based payment recognised in the period to 30 June 2016: 

 
Number of 

Options 

Value of 
options agreed 

to be issued 

Options expensed 
during the year 

Options agreed to be issued and expensed  7,899,314  $875,095   $875,095  

 
The fair value of the Options which the company has committed to issue has been calculated using the Black- 
Scholes option valuation methodology. The following inputs were used: 

 Inputs 

Number of options  7,899,314 

Underlying share price  0.16 

Exercise price (A$)  0.20 

Expected volatility  100% 

Expiry date (years)  4.56 years 

Expected dividends  Nil 

Risk free rate  1.57% 

 
The options vest immediately and they have been fully expensed in the current period as they relate to 
services provided to the group. 

Expenses arising from Share-Based Payment Transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the year as part of employee 
benefit expense were as follows: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

   

Share-based payment   

Options expensed during the period 875,095 - 

 875,095 - 

7. INCOME TAX 

The current taxation charge comprises taxation at 30% on the profit generated by one of the Group’s entities 
as adjusted for tax purposes. 

A deferred taxation asset arising on temporary differences and unused tax losses has not been recognised in 
these financial statements. 
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 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Income tax benefit - - 

Tax Rates   

The potential tax benefit in respect of tax losses not brought 
into account has been calculated at 30%. 

  

The numerical reconciliation between tax expense and the 
accounting loss before income tax multiplied by the Company's 
applicable income tax rate is as follows:  

  

Accounting Profit/(Loss) before income tax (2,181,346) (839,413) 

Income tax benefit calculated at the Company's statutory 
income tax rate of 30% 

(654,404) 251,824 

Add Tax effect on amounts which are assessable/not tax 
deductible: 

  

• Capital expenses to be amortised over 5 years 9,079 - 

• Non assessable income (226) - 

• Non-deductible expenses 341,386 52,852 

• Timing differences 3,860 - 

Less Tax effect on amounts which are tax deductible:   

• Black hole expenditure (5,563) - 

Tax losses not brought to account 305,868 198,972 

Income tax benefit - - 

Deferred tax assets not brought to account   

• Unamortised 'black hole' expenditure (capital raising costs) 22,251 - 

• Tax losses 305,868 198,972 

• Timing differences 3,860 - 

Income tax benefit not recognised 331,979 198,972 

 
The benefit for tax losses will only be obtained if: 

(a) the Company derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit 
from the deductions for the losses to be realised; 

(b) the Company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by Law; and 

(c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the ability of the Company to realise these benefits. 
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows comprise the following 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position amounts: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Cash at Bank and on hand 507,536 19,884 

Short-term deposit 500,000 1,861,751 

 1,007,536 1,881,635 

 
(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows as follows: 

  

Balances as above 1,007,536 1,881,635 

Balances per Statement of Cash Flows 1,007,536 1,881,635 

 
(b) Risk exposure 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned 
above. The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and 
liabilities are discussed in Note 2. 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Trade receivables 15,068 9,459 

Prepayments 17,721 13,468 

Security Deposit  57,620 54,008 

VAT (Payable)/Refundable 139,270 113,753 

Other receivables 17,592 22,711 

 247,271 213,399 
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10. INVENTORIES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

CURRENT   

Raw Materials  158,536 3,444 

Finished Goods (i) 28,001 20,221 

 186,537 23,665 

 
(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2016 amounted to $33,430 (2015: 
$29,766). These were included in cost of sales and cost of providing services.  
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 Improvements to 
premises 

Medical and other 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment and 

software 

Furniture and 
fittings Total 

Year ended 30 June 2016      

Balance at 1 January  2016, net of accumulated depreciation  133,075 107,646 45,971 95,696 382,388 

Additions 75,136 1,398 60,991 104,608 242,133 

Movement in foreign currency assets (277) (87) 103 (12) (273) 

Disposals (11,351) - - (5,952) (17,303) 

Depreciation charged for the period (9,390) (15,104) (14,129) (16,999) (55,622) 

Balance at 30 June 2016, net of accumulated depreciation 187,193 93,853 92,936 177,341 551,323 

Balance at 30 June 2016      

Cost 197,328 118,936 142,511 197,640 656,415 

Accumulated Depreciation  (10,135) (25,083) (49,575) (20,299) (105,092) 

Net carrying amount as at 30 June 2016 187,193 93,853 92,936 177,341 551,323 
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

 Improvements to 
premises 

Medical and other 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment and 

software 

Furniture and 
fittings Total 

Year ended 31 December 2015      

Balance at 1 January  2015, net of accumulated depreciation  13,086 9,506 31,727 13,622 67,941 

Additions 122,604 104,132 27,756 87,942 342,434 

Movement in foreign currency assets (37) (87) (195) (85) (404) 

Disposals - - - - - 

Depreciation charged for the period (2,578) (5,905) (13,317) (5,783) (27,583) 

Balance at 31 December 2015, net of accumulated depreciation 133,075 107,646 45,971 95,696 382,388 

Balance at 31 December 2015      

Cost 137,144 117,935 81,795 109,009 445,883 

Accumulated Depreciation  (4,069) (10,289) (35,824) (13,313) (63,495) 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 133,075 107,646 45,971 95,696 382,388 
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

 Website Mente 
Development Trademarks Patents Total 

Year ended 30 June 2016      

Balance at 1 January  2016, net of amortisation  49,203 686,271 809 45,673 781,956 

Additions 10,397 403,220 1,270 - 414,887 

Movement in foreign currency assets (11) (1,319) (1) (119) (1,450) 

Written off during the period  - (198,657)   (198,657) 

Disposals - - - -  

Amortisation charged for the period (8,480) (54,294) (201) (1,927) (64,902) 

Balance at 30 June 2016, net of accumulated amortisation 51,109 835,221 1,877 43,627 931,834 

Balance at 30 June 2016      

Cost 67,918 983,634 2,614 56,872 1,111,038 

Amortisation (16,809) (148,413) (737) (13,245) (179,204) 

Net carrying amount as at 30 June 2016 51,109 835,221 1,877 43,627 931,834 

 
The Board has determined the recoverable amount of the Mente CGU by assessing the fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCOD) of the underlying assets. The method 
applied was the market approach based on both recent capital raisings of the Group and upcoming Initial Public Offering adjusted for the fair value of net assets of the 
Mente CGU. The recoverable value is a Level 3 measurement with the main unobservable input being the fair value of the Mente CGU. The Board has not identified any 
reasonable possible changes in key assumptions that could cause the carrying amount of the Mente CGU to exceed its recoverable amount. 
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 Website Mente Development Trademarks Patents Total 

Year ended 31 December 2015      

Balance at 1 January  2015, net of amortisation 5,879 175,045 1,073 49,072 231,069 

Additions 49,830 583,205 - 105 633,140 

Movement in foreign currency assets (59) (7) 2 239 175 

Disposals   - -  

Amortisation charged for the period (6,447) (71,972) (266) (3,743) (82,428) 

Balance at 31 December 2015, net of amortisation 49,203 686,271 809 45,673 781,956 

Balance at 31 December 2015      

Cost 57,715 781,699 1,349 57,064 897,827 

Amortisation (8,512) (95,428) (540) (11,391) (115,871) 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 49,203 686,271 809 45,673 781,956 
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13. PAYABLES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Trade payables 243,312 158,062 

Accruals 133,703 33,358 

Other payables 130,498 18,193 

 507,513 209,613 

 
14. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Current Borrowing    

Bank overdrafts 389,654 888,201 

Bank loans 232,055 120,418 

Shareholders’ loan  - 392,720 

 621,709 1,401,339 

Non-current Borrowing    

Bank loans 323,900 377,413 

 323,900 377,413 

 
The Group benefits from the following banking facilities: 

A General Banking Facility of Euro 75,000 and Loan Facilities of Euro 200,000 granted by Bank of Valletta P.L.C.; 

The Bank of Valletta P.L.C. facilities are secured by: 

(a) a first general hypothec over the assets of the Group; 

(b) a first special hypothec over property held by the Group; 

(c) a pledge over public securities; 

(d) a pledge over an insurance policy covering one of the shareholders’ property and the Group’s inventories; 

(e) a Letter of Undertaking given by the Group’s directors not to sell and/or transfer any of the patents 
owned by the company and not to pay dividends or repay shareholders’ loans without the bank’s prior 
written consent. 

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had net borrowings of A$945,609 (EUR 632,984); Borrowings have been used 
for the purchase of equipment, in the fit out of the main office and laboratory facilities as well as general 
working capital.  
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SHAREHOLDERS’ CURRENT ACCOUNT 

On 29 July 2015 Transcontinental Investments is provided a 120 day loan facility to AAT Research Ltd for the 
purpose of working capital and interest free repayment within 120 days otherwise the default rate of 10% per 
annum if not repaid during the facility period. The balance of the shareholders’ loan accounts as at 30 June 
2016 is Nil (31 December 2015: A$392,720 – equivalent to Euro 262,000). 

15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

A reconciliation of the movement in capital and reserves for the Company can be found in the Statement of 
Changes in Equity. 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Contributed equity as at 1 January 2016 2,621,963 187,800 

Shares issued  - 2,434,163 

Pre-IPO raising 6,250,000 Ordinary Shares at $0.16 1,000,000 - 

Less: Share Issued Cost (62,448) - 

Share issued for repayment of the shareholders’ loan  418,289 - 

 3,977,804 2,621,963 

(a) Movements of share capital during the period 

Date Details No of shares Issue price($) $ 

01.01.2016 Opening Balance 139,562  2,621,963 

15.01.2016 Shares at Registration 500 0.20 - 

09.05.2016 Conversion of AATRL to NTI shares* 
1:233  

32,517,946 
(139,562) 

0.16 - 

09.05.2016 Pre- IPO Raising 6,250,000 0.16 1,000,000 

24.05.2016 Shares issued to AATRL shareholders in their 
capacity as shareholders** 
1:326 

8,554,566  - 

24.05.2016 Shares issued  for repayment of the 
shareholders’ loan *** 

2,609,600  418,289 

24.05.2016 Shares Issued cost   (62,448) 

Closing Balance as at 30/06/2016 49,932,612  3,977,804 

* 5 May 2016 Neurotech purchased all of the issued capital in AAT Research Limited by the issue of 233 Neurotech Shares per AAT 
Research share based on the equivalent of AUD0.16 per Neurotech Share and €25 per AAT Research share 

** Neurotech issued 8,554,566 shares to AATRL shareholders to ensure equitable transition of investments in AATRL to investments in 
NTI. As a transaction with shareholders in their capacity as shareholders there is no increase in share capital. 

***AATRL debt owed TRG of €280,000 (= AUD$418,289) and was bought by Neurotech by issue of 2,609,600 shares to TRG  
 
Ordinary Shares  

The holder of Ordinary Shares is entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.  On a show of hands every 
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holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll 
each share is entitled to one vote. Ordinary Shares have no par value and the Company does not have a 
limited amount of authorised capital. 

Options  

Date of Expiry Exercise 
Price 

Options agreed 
to be issued 

Number 
Exercised 

Options Lapsed/ 
Expired during 

period  
Balance 

30/11/2020 $0.20 7,899,314 - - 7,899,314 

 
16. OTHER RESERVES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Reserve at the beginning of the period (151,903) (10,872) 

Foreign exchange movement 15,272 (141,031) 

Capital reserve (699,000 shares @ $0.16) 111,840 - 

Options Premium Reserve 875,095 - 

Reserve at the end of the period 850,304 (151,903) 

 
(a) Option Reserve 

The option reserve is used to record the value of the share based payments provided to employees, 
consultants and for options issued pursuant to any acquisitions or in exchange for services. 

(b) Capital Reserve 

The capital reserve is used to record the value of the shares which have been agreed to be provided to 
consultants but have not yet been issued. AATRL agreed to pay €75,000 to cancel the reseller agreement with 
the relevant parties and Neurotech has entered into an agreement to acquire the debt created by issuing 
699,000 new shares to Chasm Hop/Bonavita/Vella worth A$111,840 at $0.16 each. These shares have not yet 
been issued as at 30 June 2016. 

(c) Foreign Currency Reserve 

The foreign currency reserve records foreign currency differences arising from the translation of Financial 
Statements of all foreign controlled subsidiaries. 

17. ACCUMULATED PROFIT/(LOSS) 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Accumulated loss at the beginning of the period  1,175,382 335,969 

Net loss attributable to shareholders 2,181,346 839,413 

Accumulated loss at the end of the period  3,356,728 1,175,382 
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18. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities with the 
loss from continuing operations after income tax: 

Non-cash flows in profit from ordinary activities   

Net Loss after Income Tax (2,181,346) (839,413) 

Depreciation & Amortisation 120,525 110,016 

Share based payment 875,095 - 

Non-cash settlement 113,913 - 

Impairment 202,340 - 

Changes in assets & liabilities    

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables (5,609) (72,479) 

Increase/(Decrease) in inventories  (162,872) (11,354) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Prepayment (4,253) (4,617) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Receivables (24,110) (49,594) 

Increase/(Decrease) in trade creditor and other payable 280,531 16,231 

Cash flow from Operating Activities (785,786) (851,210) 

 
19. MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

There are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the reporting date. 

20. REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the Auditor of the Entity and 
its related parties. 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Audit and Other Assurance Services   

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 17,000 - 

Chris Baldacchino & Associates (equivalent to €7,100 (2015: €7,900)) 10,803 11,671 

Total remuneration for Audit and Other Assurance Services 27,803 11,671 

Other Service   

Non Auditing Service - BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd 9,000 - 

Chris Baldacchino & Associates (equivalent to €47,813 (2015: €34,260)) 72,751 50,613 

Total remuneration for Other Service 81,751 50,613 
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21. COMMITMENTS 

Office Lease Commitment 

The Company has an Office Lease Agreement. On 29 July 2015, through AAT Medical, the Company entered 
into a lease with Malta Digital Hub Limited, being a company incorporated in Malta, in respect of Block LS3, 
Malta Life Sciences Park San Gwann Industrial Estate, San Gwann, Malta (Office Lease). 

The Office Lease is for an initial term of over 5 years commencing on 30 July 2015 and expiring on 31 October 
2020. AAT Medical has an option to extend the term for a further 5 years. 

AAT Medical must pay rent in the amount of €4,035.42 per month exclusive of 18% VAT (equivalent to 
A$6140.25 per month and A$73,683 per annum) and has made standard undertakings normally included in a 
commercial lease, including to keep the premises in good condition and repair and take out and maintain 
insurances.  

The Office Lease may be terminated by AAT Medical on 6 months’ notice, and may be terminated by Malta 
Digital Hub Limited on the occurrence of a major breach of the Office Lease, or if AAT Medical suffers an 
insolvency event (provided that the required notice period as provided for in a judicial letter is given, during 
which AAT Medical may remedy the relevant breach). 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
30 June 2016 ($) 

(6 months) 
31 December 2015 ($) 

(12 months) 

Not later than one year 73,683 73,683 

Later than one year but not later than five years 368,415 368,415 

Later than five years 294,732 368,415 

TOTAL 736,830 810,513 

 
22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

At 30 June 2016, AAT Research Limited has entered into agreements to pay cash settlements to the below 
parties contingent on the successful IPO.  

The amounts are as follows: 

• Alex Grech – Euro 100,595 

• Claude Calleja – Euro 16,372.50 

There are no other contingent liabilities. 

23. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

At 30 June 2016 and 31 December 2015 the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
classified with current assets and current liabilities respectively approximated their fair values due to the 
short term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 

The fair values of non-current financial assets and non-current financial liabilities are not materially 
different from their carrying amounts. 
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24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES  

Parent Entity 

The legal Parent Entity within the Group is Neurotech International Limited (NTI).  NTI owns 100% of the issued 
ordinary shares of AAT Research Limited (directly), AAT Medical Limited, AAT Services Limited and AAT 
Intellectual Property Limited (indirectly) which is the subsidiary of AAT Research Limited. All subsidiaries are 
incorporated in Malta. 

Wholly-owned Group transactions 

Loans made by Neurotech International Limited (NTI) to wholly-owned subsidiary companies are contributed 
to meet required expenditure payable on demand and are not interest bearing. 

Key Management Personnel 

The individual Directors and Executives compensation comprised as at 30 June 2016.   

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 June 2016 ($) 
(6 months) 

31 December 2015 ($) 
(12 months) 

Short-term employee benefits   

Adrian Attard Trevisan 89,519 129,264 

Angelica Micallef Trigona (resigned 24 Nov 2015) - 127,225 

Wolfgang Storf5 67,668 - 

 157,187 256,440 

Post- employee benefits   

Adrian Attard Trevisan (Superannuation)  1,684 1,359 

Angelica Micallef Trigona - 3,213 

Wolfgang Storf – Reallocation Expenses5 13,542  

 15,226 4,572 

Share-based payments   

Adrian Attard Trevisan (Paloma Trust)1 206,496 - 

Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd2 206,496 - 

Shimano Ventures Ltd3 228,246 - 

Avonmore Holdings Group Ltd4 180,684 - 

 821,922 - 

1. Held by in the name of Mario Attard Trevisan as trustee of the Paloma Trust. However, Krystle Attard Trevisan has a legal right to 
become registered holder of these Securities, and will become the registered holder of these Securities as trustee of the Paloma 
Trust. Adrian Attard Trevisan has a relevant interest in these Securities as a beneficiary of the Paloma Trust. 

2. Held by Shimano Ventures Ltd as trustee for The Griffiths Family Trust.  Peter Griffiths has a relevant interest in these Securities as a 
director and controlling shareholder of Shimano Ventures Ltd and as a beneficiary of The Griffiths Family Trust. 

3. Held by Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd.  Simon Trevisan has a relevant interest in these Securities as a director, joint controller 
and substantial shareholder of Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd.  

4. Held by Avonmore Holdings Group Ltd. Peter O’Connor has a relevant interest in these Securities as a beneficiary of this family trust. 
5. Wolfgang Storf agreed to accrued $67,668 (equivalent to Euro 44,472) for consultancy services provided to AAT Research Limited 

during the period ending 30 June 2016. In addition, AAT Research Limited paid the reallocation expenses of $13,542 (equivalent to 
Euro 8,900) during the period ending 30 June 2016. 
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Loans to/from Related Parties 

On 29 July 2015 Transcontinental Investments is provided a 120 day loan facility to AAT Research Ltd for the 
purpose of working capital and interest free repayment within 120 days otherwise the default rate of 10% per 
annum if not repaid during the facility period. The balance of the shareholders’ loan accounts as at 30 June 
2016 is Nil (31 December 2015: A$392,720 – equivalent to Euro 262,000). 

There were no other loans to individual or Directors of the Company during the period ended 30 June 2016 
(2015: Nil). 

Transactions with Related Parties 

DIRECTORS’ CURRENT ACCOUNT 

AAT Research Limited has paid monthly loan repayment and monthly life insurance repayment of $551 
(equivalent to Euro 362); this is currently shown as current assets under Director’s Current Account. 

The balance on the director’s current account is $25,592 (31 December 2015 - $22,711) is unsecured, interest 
free and has no fixed date of repayment. 

There were no other related parties’ transactions to individual or Directors of the Company during the period 
ended 30 June 2016. 

Other Key Management Personnel Transactions with the Company 

A number of Key Management Personnel or their related parties hold positions in other entities that result in 
them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. Other 
than director fees, there were no transactions with the entities. 

25. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

The following details information related to the Parent Entity, Neurotech International Limited, as at 30 June 
2016.  The information presented here has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in 
Note 1. 

 30 June 2016 ($) 

Current assets 1,316,299 

Non-current assets 6,683,442 

Total Assets 7,999,741 

  

Current liabilities 8,829 

Non-current liabilities 7,900 

Total Liabilities 16,729 

Net Assets 7,983,012 

Contributed equity 7,926,790 

Reserve  986,935 

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) (930,713) 

Total Equity 7,983,012 
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 30 June 2016 ($) 

  

(loss) for the year (930,713) 

Other comprehensive (loss) for the year - 

Total Comprehensive (loss) for the Year (930,713) 

 
The Parent Entity of Neurotech International Limited (NTI) is incorporated in Australia on 15 January 2016 so 
there are no comparatives figures and there are no other separate commitments and contingencies for parent 
entity as at 30 June 2016.  
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In the opinion of the Directors of Neurotech International Limited (Company): 

(a) the Financial Statements, comprising the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash 
flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity, and Notes set out on pages 10 to 53, are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and 
of their performance, for the financial period ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and Corporations Regulations 2001; and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements.  

(b) the Financial Report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 
1; and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 by the 
Financial Officer for the financial period ended 30 June 2016.  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

Simon Trevisan 
Non-Executive Director 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia, this 12th September 2016 

 

Wolfgang Johannes Storf 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dated at Perth, Western Australia, this 12th September 2016 

 

 

 

 



  

38 Station Street  
Subiaco, WA 6008 
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872 
Australia 

 

Tel: +61 8 6382 4600 
Fax: +61 8 6382 4601 
www.bdo.com.au 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 
77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK 
company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 
 

 
 
 

NEUROTECH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016 PAGE 55 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the members of Neurotech International Limited 

 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Neurotech International Limited, which 

comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then ended, notes comprising a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 

declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 

year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 

preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 

Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which 



 

NEUROTECH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016  PAGE 56 
 

has been given to the directors of Neurotech International Limited, would be in the same terms if given 

to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

Opinion  

In our opinion:  

(a) the financial report of Neurotech International Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 

and of its performance for the period ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and  

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 1.  

Emphasis of matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 (b) (iii) in the financial report, which 

describes the events and conditions which give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may 

cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and 

therefore the consolidated entity may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business. 

 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd   

 
Jarrad Prue 

Director 

 

Perth, 12 September 2016 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

"1 COMPANY INFORMATION 

Registration 

AAT RESEARCH LIMITED was incorporated in Malta as a limited liability company under the Companies 
Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta. The company was incorporated on the 30 July 2012 

13 

Directors 

-ri 
Adrian Attard Trevisan 
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Mars, MRS 3000 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 
Year ended 31 December 2014 

The directors submit their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the company for the 
year ended 31 December 2014. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

The principal activity of the company is to exploit all types of intellectual and intangible property, including 
scientific, technical, industrial and commercial patents, as well as to provide services in the research and 
development industry. 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 

The income statement is shown on page 6 and the statement of changes in equity is shown on page 8. The 
directors do not propose the payment of a dividend. 

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the company incurred a loss before taxation of Eur 87,153 when 
compared to the loss before taxation of Eur 28,253 incurred in the previous year ended 31 December 2013. As at 
the balance sheet date, the company had a net liability position of Eur 17,251. (2013 - liability of Eur 45,739) 

DIRECTORS 

During the year ended 31 December 2014 the directors were as listed on page 1. 

In accordance with the company's Memorandum and Articles of Association, the present directors shall remain 
in office. 

AUDITOR 

Roberto J. Mifsud Member firm of JCA International, The Network of Independent Auditors, Accountants. 
Lawyers and Consultants has expressed his willingness to continue in office and a resolution for his re
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 

Approved by the hoard of directors on the 25 September 2015 and signed for and on behalf of bv-

r i a n  
Adrian Attard Trevisan 
Director 

Angela Micallef Trigona 
Director 

-a 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES 
Year ended 31 December 2014 

The Companies Act Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial 
year and of the profit or loss for the financial year. 

The directors are responsible for ensuring that; -

' appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates; 

» the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union; . 

' the financial statements are prepared on the basis that the company must be presumed to be carrying on its 
business as a going concern; and 

' account has been taken of income and charges relating to the accounting period, irrespective of the date of 
receipt or payment. 

The directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act, 1995. The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
to the members of AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

I have audited the financial statements of AAT RESEARCH LIMITED, which comprise the balance sheet as at 
31 December 2014 and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes set on pages 10 to 22. 

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies: 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

-TI 

Auditor's Responsibility 
My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers intemal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's intemal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence 1 have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. 

-i Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at 31 December 
2014 and of its financial performance and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Maltese Companies Act, 1995. 

Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualify ing my audit opinion, I draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements which states that the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the shareholders will continue to provide 
support to the company for the foreseeable future. * 

Report on other Legal and regulatory Requirements 
I also have responsibilities under the Companies Act, Cap 386 of the Laws of Malta to report to you if in my opinion 
- The information given in the directors' report is not consistent with the financial statements. 
- Adequate accounting records have not been kept. 
- The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records 
-1 have not/received all the information and explanations I require for my audit. 
- If certain/djisciosures of the directors' remuneration specified by law are not made in the financial statements, giving the 
required particulars in my report. 
I have notl ing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 

-i 

RobeNo J. Mifsud 
Certified 'ublic Accountant 
Member firm of JCA International, 
The Network of Independent Auditors, Accountants, 
Lawyers ana Consultants 

-f 

25 September 2015 
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-i AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 
-i 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Year ended 31 December 2014 

-i 

2013 2014 
Eur Eur Notes 

104.637 71,351 2 Revenue 
-i 

(10,766) (53,530) Direct expenses 

93,871 17,821 Gross profit -=* 

(103,964) 
(26,631) 

(78,991) 
(33,916) 

Administrative expenses 
Selling and distribution expenses -i 

(36,724) (95,086) Operating loss -i 

(3,218) 
11,689 

(6,012) 
13,945 

Interest payable 
Other income 5 

(28,253) (87,153) Loss on ordinary activities before taxation 

6 Taxation 

(28,253) (87,153) Loss for the financial year 

(28,253 (87,153) Total comprehensive loss for the year 

1̂ The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 10 to 22 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2014 

2013 2014 Notes 
Eur Eur 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Financial asset - investment in subsidiary' 
Intangible asset 
Property, plant and equipment 

8 720 
35,467 
31,286 

32,934 
46,732 

7 
10 

66.753 80,386 Total non-current assets 

Current assets 
Inventories 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash at bank and in hand 

1,898 
82,718 

15 
9 80,321 

1.023 16 

Total current assets 80,321 85,639 

TOTAL ASSETS 160,707 152,392 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Capital and reserves 
Called up issued share capital 
Share premium 
Profit and loss account 

II 11,165 
114,476 

(142,892) 

10,000 

(55,739) 

Total equity (17,251) (45,739) 

Non-Current 
Long term borrowings 
Trade and other payables 

12 46,551 
11,900 

58,963 
80,700 14 

Total non-current liabilities 58,451 139,663 

Current 
Short term borrowings 
Trade and other payables 

12 12,254 
107,253 

23,030 
35,438 13 

Total current liabilities 119,507 58.468 

Total Liabilities 177,958 198,131 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 160,707 152,392 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 10 to 22 form an integral part ofthe financial statements. 

These financial statements on pages 6 to 22 were approved by the board of directors, authorised for issue on 
the 25 September 2015 and signed for and on behalf of by: 

Adrian Attard Trevisan 
Director 

I 
Angela Micallef Trigona 
Director 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 
-a 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
Year ended 31 December 2014 

Profit 
and loss 
Account 

Eur 

Share 
capital 

Eur 

Share 
premium 

Eur 
Total 

Eur 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 December 2013 

(17.486) 10,000 (27,486) Balance as at 1 January 2013 

Comprehensive loss 
Loss for the year (28,253) (28,253) 

(28,253) Total comprehensive loss (28,253) 

Year ended 31 December 2013 10,000 (55,739) (45,739) 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 December 2014 

Balance as at 1 January 2014 10,000 (55,739) (45,739) 

Non-Comprehensive profit 
Movement in share premium reserve 
Increase in share capital 

114,476 114.476 
1,165 1,165 

Total non-comprehensrve profit 1,165 114,476 115.641 

Comprehensive loss 
Loss for the year (87,153) (87,153) 

Total comprehensive loss (87,153) (87,153) 

Year ended 31 December 2014 11,165 114,476 (142.892) (17,251) 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 10 to 22 form an integral part of the financial statements 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 
-i 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
Year ended 31 December 2014 

2013 2014 
Eur E u r  

-i CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
(28,253) (87,153) Loss on ordinary activities before taxation -a 

8,503 
2,533 

14,039 
2,533 

Add back depreciation 
Add back amortisation -i 

-i (70,581) (17,217) OPERATING LOSS BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES 

(1,708) 
(79,127) 

1,898 
54,556 
71,815 

Movement in inventories 
Movement in receivables 
Movement in payables 32.721 

(65,331) Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 57,688 

CASH FLOW USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
Purchase of financial asset 
Purchase of intangible assets 

(29,485) 
(720) 

(31,146) 

(2,306) 

Net cash used in investing activities (30,205) (33,452) 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Issued share capital 
Movement in shareholders' loan 
Movement in bank loans 
Movement in subsidiary loans 
Movement in share premium 

1,165 
(80.700) 
(11,422) 
(40,259) 
114,476 

62,354 
35.339 

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (16,740) 97,693 

NET MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 10,743 (1,090) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (10,743) (9.653) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (note 16) (10,743) 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 10 to 22 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 -i 

Tf 

-nf GOING CONCERN 

As at 31 December 2014, the company had a net liability position of Eur 17,251. The shareholders of the 
company have given a commitment in writing to provide financial support to ensure that the company 
continues as a going concern. These financial statements have therefore been prepared using the 
underlying assumption that the company is a going concern and will continue in operation in the 
foreseeable future. -i 

GENERAL INFORMATION 1.1. 

AAT Research Limited is a limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta. 

• These financial statements, which have been prepared on a historical cost basis, are in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and comply with the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the 
Laws of Malta. 

These financial statements have been authorised for issue by the board of directors on the 25 September 
2015. 

1.2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied in previous periods. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union and IFRS Interpretations Committee IFRS IC applicable to 
companies reporting under IFRS and comply with the Companies Act, Cap 386 of the Laws of Malta 
under the historical cost convention. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2014 

The Company has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the 
year. Adoption of these revised standards and interpretations did not have any effect of the financial 
performance or position of the Company. 

Amendments to IAS 1, 'Financial Statements presentation' regarding other compn 
income. 
Fair Value Measurement - This Standard defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS a fra 
for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. IFRS 13 • 
require fair value measurements in addition to those already required or permitted by other 

-a 

IAS 1 

IFRS 13 
V 
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1 AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

3 

1.2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that is not yet effective 

Up to date of approval of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published by are not yet effective for the current reporting period and 
which the Company has not adopted early. The directors anticipate that the adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, that were in issue at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, 
but not yet effective, will have no material impact on the financial statements of the company in the period 
of initial application. The following list excludes International Financial Reporting Standards that are 
already in issue and that are expected not to be applicable. 

Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement. 
Levies. 
Disclosure of interest in other entities 

-i 

-fl 

-i 

IFRS9 
IFRIC21 
IFRS 12 

-i 

1.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements arc set 
out below. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to 
the buyer. 

Interest income 
Revenue is recognised on a cash basis. 

Lease income 
Sales of services are recognised in the accounting year in which the services are rendered by reference to 
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion 
of the total services to be provided. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash in hand and at banks and short-term deposits are held to maturity and carried at cost. 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash in hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid 
investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value. For the purpose of the cash flows statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and 
deposits at banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Impairment of assets 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows. 

1 1  
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i 
AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

-i 

1.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

-i 
Foreign currency transactions 
(a) Functional currency 
Amounts disclosed in the financial statements are presented using the currency denoted in the company's 
Memorandum of Association, which is the Euro. -5 

(b) Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies have been converted into Euro at the ruling rates of exchange on the 
day of the transaction. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated into 
Euro at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All resulting differences are taken to the 
profit and loss account. 

Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments within the allowed credit terms are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. 

The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carry ing amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
income statement. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account 
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the income 
statement. 

Trade and other payables 
Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the 
company. 

Payables to related parties are carried at cost. 

Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Dividend distribution 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the year in which they are paid. Declared dividends are 
transferred to the dividend reserve within the statement of changes in equity. 

Current and deferred income tax 
The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in 
equity. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax law enacted or substantively enacted at 
the balance sheet date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

-ii 12 



AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

—i 

—i 1.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

-i 
Current and deferred income tax - continued 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Deferred income tax is determined using the current rate of corporate taxation at the balance sheet date 
and which is expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. • 

—i 

Hi 

—i 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
calculated to write off the cost of tangible assets on a straight line basis over the expected useful lives of 
the assets concerned. The annual rates used for this purpose which are consistent with those of the 
previous year, are:-

10% Improvements to premises 
Furniture and fittings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Other equipment 
Website 

20% 
20% 
20% 
25% 
25% 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet 
date. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's 
carrying amount is greater that it estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with earning amount. These are 
included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves 
are transferred to retained earnings. 

Financial assets 
Investments in subsidiaries 
The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations that fall 
within the scope of IFRS 3. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair 
value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed (identifiable net 
assets) in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the 
acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

13 



AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

13 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

Financial assets 
Investments in subsidiaries - continued 
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired. If this is less than 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiaiy acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the 
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss. 

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the cost 
method of accounting, i.e. at cost less impairment. Cost includes directly attributable costs of the 
investment. Provisions are recorded where, m the opinion of the directors, there is an impairment in 
value. Where there has been an impairment in the value of an investment it is recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the diminution is identified. The results of subsidiaries are reflected in the 
Company's separate financial statements only to the extent of dividends receivable. On disposal of an 
investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or 
credited to profit or loss. 

Impairment and uncollectihility of financial assets 

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence that 
financial assets may be impaired. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset 
is determined and any impairment loss recognised for the difference between the recoverable amount and 
the carrying amount as follows: 

• for financial assets at amortised cost - the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated 
recoverable amount either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is included in the net profit and loss for the period; and 

• for the financial assets at fair value - where a loss has been recognised directly in equity as a result of 
the write-down of the asset to recoverable amount, the cumulative net loss recognised in equity is 
transferred to the net profit and loss for the period 

• Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the tmpairment at each reporting date. £ 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. 

0 

( 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
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-I AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 
-i 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 -i 

-i 
1.4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

-i 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

-i 

» 
In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing 
these financial statements are, not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant their 
description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1. 

-e 

2. REVENUE 

The company's revenue is represented by the services given during the year under review. 

3. TOTAL EXPENSES 

The total expenses are as stated: 
2014 2013 
Eur Eur 

Amortisation of intangible assets 
Audit fee 
Bank charges 
Consultancy fees 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
Directors remuneration 
General expenses 
Postage expenses 
Printing and stationery 
Rent payable & water and electricity 
Repairs and maintenance 
Subscription expenses 
T elecommunication 
Wages and salaries 
Website and computer related expenses 
Less recharge of wages to a group undertaking 

2,533 2.533 
1,200 1,200 
1,351 779 
9,346 

14,039 
22,616 

5,944 
8,503 

31,288 
18,823 14,323 

2,822 
2,899 
3,470 
2,002 
2,834 
2,707 

10,020 
4,669 

(17,840) 

383 
4,879 
2,900 
1,030 

580 
3,182 

20.250 
1,690 

78.991 103,964 

4. EMPLOYEES 
2014 
EUR 

2013 
EUR 

a) Staff costs 
The total employment costs were as follows: 
Directors' remuneration 
Direct wages 
Wages and salaries 
Social security costs 
Less amount transferred to related companies 

22,616 
40,615 
9,138 
4,593 

(57,298) 

31,288 
5,686 

17.484 
2,539 

19,664 56,997 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

-i 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

4. EMPLOYEES - continued -fl 

Staff numbers 
The average number of persons employed by the company during the year was as follows; 

b) 

2013 2014 
Number Number 

5 7 Direct 
Administration 1 1 

6 8 

5. OTHER INCOME 
2013 2014 
EUR EUR 

10,000 10,000 Award winning 
Grant from institutions 
Grant from Malta Enterprise 
Other income 

1,725 
2,220 

1,689 

11.689 13,945 

6. TAXATION 

No provision for Malta income tax has been made in these financial statements at the rate of 35% on the 
company's taxable income for the year. 

The tax expense differs from the theoretical taxation expense that would apply on the company's loss 
before taxation using the applicable tax rate in Malta of 35% as follows; 

2013 2014 
Eur Eur 

(28,253) Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (87.153) 

Tax on ordinary activities at 35% 

Tax effect of; 
-unrecognised deferred tax asset 

(30.504) (9,889) 

30,504 9.889 

Tax expense 

16 



AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
2013 2014 
Eur Eur 

Patents 
Opening net book value 
Additions during the year 
Amortisation during year 

35,694 
2,306 

(2,533) 

35,467 

(2,533) 

35,467 32,934 

NOTE: 
Amortisation is being apportioned over its expected useful life. Amortisation of €2,533 is being accounted 
under administrative expenses. 

8. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY 
2013 2014 
Eur Eur 

Investment in subsidiary 

-s AAT Medical Limited 
120 Ordinary shares of EurlO.OO each fully paid up 
representing 20% of the issued share capital of the company 240 

AAT Services Limited 
120 Ordinary shares of EurlO.OO each fully paid up 
representing 20% of the issued share capital of the company 240 

AAT Intellectual Property Limited 
120 Ordinary shares of EurlO.OO each fully paid up 
representing 20% of the issued share capital of the company 240 

720 

The registered office of the above subsidiaries is at MRA 049B, Marsa Industrial Estate, Marsa, Malta. 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
2014 2013 
Eur Eur 

Trade receivables 55,693 
6,375 

20,650 
VAT refundable 22,178 
Accrued income 
Amount due by directors -note 
Amount due by subsidiary - note 

5,984 
52,159 

80,321 82,718 

m 
NOTE: 
These amounts are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date of repayment. 
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i AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 
i 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
i 

Computer 
Furniture & equipment 

fittings & software 

Website & 
Improvement to Other 

premises equipment 
a 

Total 
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 1 

Year ended 31 December 2014 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Depreciation charge 

a 
1,694 

12,210 
(3,617) 

22,148 
3,293 

(6,671) 

31,286 
29,485 

(14,039) 

7,444 
4,282 

(2,781) * 
9,700 
(970) 

Closing net book amount 8,730 10,287 8,945 18,770 46,732 

At 31 December 2014 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 

i 9,700 
(970) 

14,469 
(4,182) 

13,907 
(4,962) 

33,358 71,434 
(14,588) (24,702) 

Net book amount 8,730 8,945 10,287 18,770 46,732 

At 31 December 2013 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 

2,259 
(565) 

9.625 
(2,181) 

30,065 
(7,917) 

41,949 
(10,663) 

Net book amount 1,694 7,444 22,148 31,286 a 
a 

11. CALLED UP ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 

a 
2014 2013 
Eur Eur a Authorised 

5,000,000 (2013-100,000) Ordinary shares of Eur 0.10 each 500,000 10,000 e 

2014 2013 
i Eur Eur 

Issued and fully paid up 
111,647(2013-100,000) Ordinary shares of Eur 0.10 each 11,165 10,000 

In November 2014, the shareholders of AAT Research Limited unanimously resolved that the authorised 
share capital of the Company be increased from €10,000 to €500,000 by an additional €490,000 divided 
into 4,900,000 ordinary shares of €0.10 each. 

Following the increase in authorised share capital, the shareholders of AAT Research Limited, further 
resolved to issue and allot, an additional 11,647 ordinary shares of€0,10 each, 100% paid up, such that the 
issued share capital increased by €1,647. 
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i AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 
i 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

i 

i 12. BORROWINGS 

2013 2014 a 
Eur Eur 

Current borrowings 
Bank overdraft 
Bank loan 1 

ii 
11,766 
4,636 
2,237 
4,391 

5,026 
2,380 
4,848 

Bank loan 2 
Bank loan 3 a 

23,030 12,254 Short term borrowings § 
B 2013 2014 

Eur Eur 
Non-Current borrowings 

26,118 
13,218 
19,627 

20.965 
11,420 
14,166 

Bank loan 1 
Bank loan 2 
Bank loan 3 

5 
58.963 46,551 Long term borrowings 

81,993 58.805 $ Total borrowings 

B 
The bank loan is secured by a general hypothec on the assets of the company, and by a special hypothec 
on property of the company for a value by a special hypothec on property of a third party supported by a 
pledge on insurance policies. 

B The average interest rates on the company's borrowings were as follows: 

2013 2014 
% % 

5.50 Bank overdraft 
Bank loan 1 
Bank loan 2 

B 4.27 4.42 
4.42 4.27 

Bank loan 3 5.65 5.80 

Maturity of non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings; 
2014 2013 
EUR Eur 

B 
Between 1 and 2 periods 
Between 2 and 5 periods 
Over 5 periods 

12,911 
29,577 
4,063 

12,528 
B 33,792 

12,643 
• 

46,551 58.963 

• 

B 

• 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
2013 2014 
Eur Eur 

CURRENT 
Trade payables 
Other payables 
Other taxes 
Accruals 

19,490 100,425 
177 

12,883 
2,888 

4,963 
1,865 

« 
35,438 107,253 

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

2013 2014 
Eur Eur 

NON-CURRENT 
80,700 Amounts payable to shareholders - note 

Amount payable to subsidiaries - note 11,900 

80.700 11,900 

W 
NOTE: 
These amounts are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed date of repayment. 

15. INVENTORIES 
2013 2014 

Eur Eur 
i 

1,898 Goods held for resale 

i 

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — 

• 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and balance with banks. Cash and cash equivalents 
included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following balance sheet amounts. — 

i 
2014 2013 
Eur Eur 

Cash at bank and in hand 
Bank overdraft 

1,023 
(11,766) 

(10.743) 
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-e AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 ii 

§ 
17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All companies forming part of the Holding Structure, comprising the Company and all its subsidiaries, 
namely AAT Services Limited, AAT Medical Limited and AAT Intellectual Property Limited; the 
shareholders, and other companies controlled or significantly influenced by the shareholders are 
considered to be related parties. The directors of the companies within the Group ('key management 
personnel') and entities controlled by such key management personnel are also considered to be other 
related parties. 

4 

a 

During the year under review the company has undertaken a number of transactions, with a related 
company in the ordinary course of business on an arm's length basis as follows:-

2013 2014 
EUR EUR 

Sale of goods and services 
42,160 AAT Medical Limited 

Expenses 
AAT Medical Limited - Wages and salaries 
AAT Services Limited - Wages and salaries 

48,505 
8.793 

s Loan by: 
AAT Services Limited 
AAT Intellectual Property Limited 

51,489 
670 

Loan to: 
AAT Medical Limited 20,947 

Outstanding balances with related parties on sales and purchases transactions are reported in note 9 Trade 
and other Receivables and note 13 & 14 Trade and other Payables. 

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial risk factors 
The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The company's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of market conditions 
and therefore seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company's financial performance. Risk 
management is carried out by the directors. The directors evaluate, on a periodical basis, financial risk 
factors based on appropriate skills, experience and supervision. 

5 

m 

m 

m Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market prices comprise three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, 
such as equity risk. The company's policy is designed to minimise such risks by implementing the 
necessary safeguards to counter market risks. m 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2014 

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as 
well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For 
banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties are accepted. Risk control assesses the 
credit quality of customers, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. No credit limits were exceeded during the year and 
management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties. 

Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The company maintains flexibility in funding 
by maintaining availability under committed credit lines. The company monitors its liquidity on the basis 
of expected cash flow. This entails projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets 
necessary to meet the company's obligations as they fall due. 

Capital risk management 
The company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue to operate as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and to maintain an optimal structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The company monitors 
capital on the basis of its gearing ratio. 

Fair value estimation _ 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. The company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at the balance sheet date. The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the company for similar instruments. 

*1 

19. STATUTORY INFORMATION 

AAT Research Limited is a public limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta. 
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AAT RESEARCH LIMITED 

DIRECT EXPENSES 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 

STATEMENT I 

2014 2013 
Eur Eur 

DIRECT EXPENSES 
Purchases 
Engineer direct salary 
Subcontracted fees 

45,273 
39,458 
8,257 

1,743 
5.686 
3,337 

Less recharge of wages to AAT Medical Limited (39,458) 

53,530 10,766 

m 

m 

m 

m 

m 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors submits its annual report together with the audited financial statements of the 

Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
 

The principal activity of the Company is to:  

 

- design medical devices, in any form and for any purpose, through the use of hardware, software or 

technology of any kind, that improve people’s quality of life, without limiting the company in any way, 

whether relating to, health, mental or physical stress or comfort energy, sleep, learning, understanding and 

communication and all related aspects; 

 

- supply orthopedic, surgical, dental, medical and optical appliances and equipment, and instruments of 

every description, and carry on the business of manufacturers, merchants, importers, exporters, retail and 

wholesale dealers in all such appliances, equipment and instruments; 

 

- own, acquire, invest in, hold, develop, dispose of, exchange, manager, administer, license out, transfer, 

register, in any register and in any part of the world and in any other way exploit all types of intellectual 

and intangible property, including but not limited to scientific, technical, industrial and commercial 

patents, inventions, discoveries, commercial knowledge and information, know-how, secrets, designs, 

formulae or processes, trademarks, trade names, computer programs, copyright and patents whether 

industrial or scientific or artistic or electronic.  

 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 

 

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 disclose retained losses for the financial 

year under review of Eur182,357. 

 

Such retained losses are being added to the accumulated losses brought forward from the previous financial 

period of Eur142,892 making total accumulated losses of Eur325,249 which are being carried forward to the next 

financial year. 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of dividends. 

 

PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

 

Turnover decreased by Eur38,743, from Eur71,351 for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 to Eur32,608 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, representing an 54% decrease. 

 

This resulted in a gross loss of Eur209 sustained for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 when compared 

to a gross profit of Eur14,604 generated for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.. 

 

Overhead expenditure increased by Eur67,947 from Eur108,339 for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

to Eur176,286 for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, representing a 63% increase. 

 

This has resulted in an operating loss of Eur176,495 sustained for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 

when compared to an operating loss of Eur108,339 sustained during the financial year ended 31 December 2014. 

 

After deducting finance costs of Eur5,862 (31 December 2014 – Eur7,363), the resulting loss for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to Eur182,357 (31 December 2014 – Eur87,153). 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 

 

It is the intention of the Board of Directors that for the forthcoming financial year ending 31 December 2016 

they are to improve upon the present level of activities achieved during the financial year ended 31 December 

2015. 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Since the presentation of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2014, Peter Griffiths, 

Peter O’Connor and Simon Trevisan were appointed to the Board of Directors on 10 July 2015. On the other 

hand, Angela Micallef Trigona resigned from the Board of Directors on 24 November 2015. 

 

The Company’s other director, Adrian Attard Trevisan, served office on the Company’s Board of Directors 

throughout the financial year under review and in accordance with Clause 87 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association he is to remain in office. 

 

AUDITOR 

 

The auditor, Mr. Chris Baldacchino B.Comm., B.A.(Hons.) Accty., F.I.A., C.P.A. has indicated his willingness 

to continue in office. 

 

 

The Board of Directors’ Report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 12 May 2016 by: 

 

 

 

ADRIAN ATTARD TREVISAN PETER GRIFFTHS 

Director Director 

 

 

 

PETER O’CONNOR SIMON TREVISAN 

Director Director 
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STATEMENT OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

Year ended 31 December 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is required by the Companies Act, 1995 to prepare financial statements for 

each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the 

financial year and of the profit or loss for the financial year. 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that: 

 

• appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 

judgements and estimates; 

• the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as adopted by the EU subject to any material departures disclosed and explained therein; 

• the financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Company must be presumed to be carrying on its 

business as a going concern; and 

• account has been taken of income and charges relating to the accounting period, irrespective of the date of 

receipt or payment. 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose 

with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and to enable it to ensure that the 

financial statements comply with the Companies Act, 1995. It is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 

the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities.
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Chris Baldacchino 
B.Comm., B.A. (Hons) ACCTY., F.I.A., C.P.A. 

Certified Public Accountant 
 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 

to the members of AAT Research Limited 
 

I have audited the financial statements of AAT Research Limited, which comprise the Statement of Financial 

Position as at 31 December 2015, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 

Statement of Cash Flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory notes set on pages 13 to 28. 

 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. This 

responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 

fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.  I conducted my audit 

in accordance with International Standards on Auditing as adopted by the EU. Those standards require that I 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by the Company’s Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 

opinion. 

 

The comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 have been extracted from financial 

statements not audited by me.   

 

Opinion 

 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

- give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as of 31 December 2015, and of its 

financial performance and its cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU; and  

- have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, Cap.386 of the Laws of Malta. 
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Chris Baldacchino 
B.Comm., B.A. (Hons) ACCTY., F.I.A., C.P.A. 

Certified Public Accountant 
 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 

to the members of AAT Research Limited (Contd.) 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

I also have responsibilities under the Maltese Companies Act, 1995 to report to you if, in my opinion: 

- The information given in the Board of Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial statements. 

- Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by me. 

- The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

- I have not received all information and explanations I require for my audit. 

- Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made in the financial statements, 

giving the required particulars in my report. 

 

I have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 

 

 

 

Chris Baldacchino 

Certified Public Accountant and Practicing Auditor 

 

12 May 2016. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 2015 2014 

 Notes Eur Eur 

 

 

REVENUE 4 32,608 71,351 

 

Cost of sales (32,817) (56,747) 
 _____________ _____________ 

GROSS (LOSS) / PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (209) 14,604 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

EXPENSES 

 

General and administrative expenses 151,969 74,423 

 

Selling and distribution expenses 24,317 33,916 
 _____________ _____________ 

 176,286 108,339 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

(OPERATING LOSS FOR THE YEAR) (176,495) (93,735) 

 

Finance costs (5,862)  (7,363) 
 _____________ _____________ 

 (182,357) (101,098) 

 

Other income  - 13,945 
 _____________ _____________ 

(RETAINED LOSS FOR THE YEAR) 5 (182,357) (87,153) 
  _____________ _____________ 

 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 13 to 28 form an integral part of the financial 

statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

 2015 2014 

 Notes Eur Eur 

 

 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible fixed assets 8 38,290 36,879 

Tangible fixed assets 9 235,631 42,787 

Financial fixed assets 10 720 720 

 _____________ _____________ 

 274,641 80,386 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Receivables 11 341,269 74,351 

Shareholders’ current account 12 3,053 - 

Directors’ current account 13 5,601 5,984 

Bank balances  1,242,593 - 

 _____________ _____________ 

 1,592,516 80,335 

 _____________ _____________ 

 
TOTAL ASSETS 1,867,157 160,721 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Capital and reserves 
Ordinary share capital 14 13,956 11,165 

Share Premium Reserve 15 1,649,723 114,476 

 _____________ _____________ 

 1,663,679 125,641 

(Accumulated losses) (325,249)  (142,892) 

 _____________ _____________ 

 1,338,430 (17,251) 

 _____________ _____________
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Contd.) 

31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

 2015 2014 

 Notes Eur Eur 

 

 

 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 232,328 46,551 

Shareholders’ loan account 17 210,000 - 

 _____________ _____________ 

 442,328 46,551 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 56,000 12,254 

Payables 18 30,399 119,167 

 _____________ _____________ 

 86,399 131,421 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

Total liabilities 528,727 177,972 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,867,157 160,721 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 13 to 28 form an integral part of the financial 

statements. 

 

The financial statements on pages 8 to 28 were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 May 2016 and signed 

by: 

 

 

ADRIAN ATTARD TREVISAN PETER GRIFFTHS 

Director Director 

 

 

 

PETER O’CONNOR SIMON TREVISAN 

Director Director 
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STATATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

 Ordinary Share 

 share Premium (Accumulated 

 capital Reserve losses) Total 

 Eur Eur Eur Eur 
 

 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

 

At 1 January 2014 10,000 - (55,739) (45,739) 

 

Increase in Ordinary share capital  1,165 - - 1,165 

 _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________ 

 11,165 - (55,739) (44,574) 

         

Movement in Share Premium Reserve  - 114,476 - 114,476 

 _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________ 

 11,165 114,476 (55,739) 69,902 

 

(Retained loss for the financial year) - - (87,153) (87,153) 

 _____________ _____________ ______________ _____________ 

At 31 December 2014 11,165 114,476 (142,892) (17,251) 
 _____________ _____________ ______________ _____________ 

 

 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

 

At 1 January 2015 11,165 114,476 (142,892) (17,251) 

 

Increase in Ordinary share capital  2,791 - - 2,791 

 _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________ 

 13,956 114,476 (142,892) (14,460) 

         

Movement in Share Premium Reserve  - 1,535,247 - 1,535,247 

 _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________ 

 13,956 1,649,723 (142,892) 1,520,787 

 

(Retained loss for the financial year) - - (182,357) (182,357) 

 _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________ 

At 31 December 2015 13,956 1,649,723 (325,249) 1,338,430 

 _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________ 

 

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 13 to 28 form an integral part of the financial 

statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

  2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

(LOSS FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAXATION) (182,357) (87,153) 

Adjustment for: 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 16,207 12,724 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 5,039 3,848 

 _____________ _____________ 

(LOSS FOR THE YEAR BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES) (161,111) (70,581) 

(Movement in inventories) - 1,898 

Movement in receivables (65,385) 60,540 

Movement in shareholder’s current account (3,053) - 

Movement in payables (76,854) 71,815 

 _____________ _____________ 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (306,403) 63,672 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
(Acquisition of tangible fixed assets) (209,051) (24,225) 

(Acquisition of intangible fixed assets) (6,450) (5,260) 

(Acquisition of financial fixed assets) - (720) 

 _____________ _____________ 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (215,501) (30,205) 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Issuance of Ordinary Share Capital 2,791 1,165 

Movement in Share Premium Reserve 1,535,247 114,476 

Movement in shareholder’s loan account 210,000 (80,700) 

Movement in directors’ current account 383 (5,984) 

Movement in related Company balances (213,447) (40,259) 

Movement in borrowings 229,523 (11,422) 

 _____________ _____________ 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  1,764,497 (22,724) 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

NET MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,242,593 10,743 

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR - (10,743) 

 _____________ _____________ 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Vide Note 19) 1,242,593 - 

 _____________ _____________ 

 
The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 13 to 28 form an integral part of the financial 

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

These financial statements, which have been prepared on a historical cost basis as modified by the 

translation of foreign currencies, assume that the Company will continue as a going concern, and are in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and comply 

with the Companies Act, Cap.386 of the Laws of Malta. 

 

These financial statements are presented in Euro, being the Company’s presentation and functional 

currency. 

 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2015 

During the financial year under review the Company adopted new standards, amendments and 

interpretations to existing standards that are mandatory for the Company’s accounting period beginning 

on 1 January 2015. The adoption of these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU 

did not result in substantial changes to the Company’s accounting policies and financial statements except 

for additional disclosures, where applicable. 

 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the 

date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements that are mandatory for the Company’s 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Company has not early adopted these 

revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the Company’s Board of Directors is of 

the opinion that there are no requirements that will have a possible impact on the Company’s financial 

statements in the period of initial application. 

 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set 

out below. 

 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised 

at their fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs for all financial assets or financial liabilities 

not classified at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Statement of 

Financial Position when the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 

and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 

expire or when the entity transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.  

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. This occurs when the obligation 

specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.) 

 

Impairment of assets 

 
All assets are tested for impairment except for financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 

loss, inventories, assets arising from construction contracts, deferred tax assets, assets arising from 

employee benefits and investment property measured at fair value.  

At each Statement of Financial Position date, the carrying amount of assets, including cash-generating 

units, is reviewed to determine whether there is any indication or objective evidence of impairment, as 

appropriate, and if any such indication or objective evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated.  

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount.  

 

The impairment loss on investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an 

active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, and on derivatives that are linked to and 

must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, is measured as the difference between 

the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current 

market rate of return for a similar financial asset.  

 

In the case of other assets tested for impairment, the recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 

costs to sell (which is the amount obtainable from sale in an arm’s length transaction between 

knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal) and value in use (which is the present value of 

the future cash flows expected to be derived, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset). Where the recoverable 

amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 

amount, as calculated. 

 

Revenue recognition 
  

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also 

be met before revenue is recognised: 

 

Sale of goods 

 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to 

the buyer. 

 

Sale of services 

 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of the services provided have passed on to 

the buyer. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.) 

 

Intangible fixed assets 
 

Website development costs 

 

The Company capitalises certain costs associated with website development. Capitalisation of website 

development costs begins at the start of the application development stage and ceases once testing is 

complete and the website is placed in operation.  

 

Additional costs may also be capitalised subsequent to the date the website is placed in operation if the 

modifications result in additional functionality. Website development costs are amortised using the 

straight-line method over the period of five years. 

 

Project development costs – Medical equipment 

 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique medical 

equipment products controlled by the company are recognised as intangible assets when the following 

criteria are met: 

 

• it is technically feasible to complete the product so that it will be available for use; 

• management intends to complete the product and use or sell it; 

• there is an ability to use or sell the product; 

• it can be demonstrated how the product will generate probable future economic benefits; 

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

product are available; and 

• the expenditure attributable to the product during its development can be reliably measured. 

 

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the medical equipment product include the 

development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Other development 

expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs 

previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Medical 

equipment product development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, 

which does not exceed five years. 

 

Patents and trademarks 

 

Patents, and trademarks are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 

respective medical equipment.  These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three to five 

years 

 

Tangible fixed assets 

  

Tangible fixed assets are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. 

 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the assets to their residual 

values over their estimated useful life.   
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2.        SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.) 

 

Tangible fixed assets (Contd.) 

 

The annual rates used for this purpose, which are consistent with those used in previous years, are as 

follows: 

 

Improvements to premises 10% 

Furniture and fittings 20% 

Computer equipment and software 20% 

Medical and other equipment 25%  

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 

during the financial year in which they are incurred. 

 

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of 

financial position date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 

if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 

included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves 

are transferred to retained earnings. 

 

Financial fixed assets 
 

Long-term investments are classified as financial fixed assets. Financial fixed assets are initially recorded 

at cost.  

 

Quoted financial fixed assets are subsequently carried at market value determined at each Statement of 

Financial Position date. Market value is determined from the official stock exchange prices reported in the 

financial press.  

 

To the extent that a market valuation results in a revaluation increase, this is taken directly to the 

Unrealised Fair Value Gains Reserve. 

 

To the extent that a revaluation results in a revaluation decrease, this is charged to the Unrealised Fair 

Value Gains Reserve only to the extent that an increase had been credited to the reserve for that same 

long-term asset; any excess of the decrease is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 

Unquoted financial fixed assets are carried at cost, less permanent provisions for diminution in value 

where deemed necessary in the opinion of the Company’s Board of Directors. 

 

On disposal of financial fixed assets, the difference between the net proceeds and the carrying amount is 

taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.) 

 

Receivables 

 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 

amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  

Bad debts are written-off as incurred. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at face value. For the 

purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of a bank balance. 

 

Payables 

 

Liabilities for payables are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the 

future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Company. Amounts due to related 

parties are carried at cost. 

 

Borrowings 
 

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of issue costs incurred. In subsequent 

periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Any difference between 

proceeds (net of issue costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income over the period of the borrowings using the effective yield method. 

 

Current taxation 

 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rate and tax laws used to compute the amount 

are those that are enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date. 

 

Deferred taxation 

 

Deferred income taxation is provided using the Statement of Financial Position liability method, for all 

temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for 

financial reporting purposes. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that future taxable profit will be available such that 

realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. 

 

Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation (legal and constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

Where it is expected that some or all of a provision is to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as 

a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any 

reimbursement.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd.) 

 

Borrowing costs 

 
Borrowing costs include the costs incurred in obtaining external financing. Borrowing costs are 

recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the financial year in which they are incurred. 

 

Employee benefits 

 

The Company contributes towards the state pension in accordance with local legislation. The only 

obligation of the Company is to make the required contributions. Costs are expensed in the financial year 

in which they are incurred. 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 

and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

 

In the opinion of the Company’s Board of Directors, the accounting judgements, estimates and the 

assumptions made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies did not have any 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in these financial statements and therefore do not warrant 

disclosure in terms of the requirements of IAS 1 (revised). 

 

 

4. REVENUE 
 

Turnover represents the invoiced value of all kind of medical equipment sold and services provided by the 

Company during the financial year under review. 

 

 

5. LOSS FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAXATION 

 

Loss for the year before taxation is stated after charging: 

  2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 5,039 2,533 

Audit fee 2,600 1,200 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 16,207 14,039 

Directors’ remuneration 53,115 13,569 

Wages and salaries 8,680 6,100 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

and after crediting: 

 

  2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Other income - 13,945 

 _____________ _____________ 
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6. CURRENT TAXATION 

 

No current taxation arises for the financial year under review on the retained loss of Eur182,357 sustained 

by the Company as adjusted for tax purposes. 

 

Unabsorbed capital allowances and tax losses amounting to Eur62,827 and Eur272,791 respectively are 

being carried forward to the next financial year.  

 

A deferred taxation asset amounting to Eur112,730 arising on temporary differences has not been 

recognised in these financial statements. 

 

  2015  2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 

 

(Retained loss for the financial year) (182,357) (87,153) 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

Tax at the applicable rate of 35% (63,825) (30,504) 

 

Tax effect of expenses not deductible in determining profit / (loss): 

 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5,672 4,453 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 1,764 1,347 

Disallowed expenses - 156 

Tax losses unutilised 56,389 25,548 

 ______________ _____________ 

Tax expense: - - 
 ______________ _____________ 

 

 

7. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 
 

a) Staff costs 
  

The total employment costs for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 were as follows: 

 

  2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Directors’ remuneration 88,386 22,616 

Wages and salaries 37,476 49,758 

Employer’s share of national insurance contributions 2,779 4,593 

 

Less: 

 

Directors’ remuneration recharged to subsidiary Company (35,271) (9,047) 

Wages and salaries recharged to subsidiary Company (31,575) (48,251) 

 _____________ ____________ 

 61,795 19,669 

 _____________ ____________ 
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7. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION (Contd.) 

 

b) Staff numbers 

  

The average numbers of persons employed by the Company during the financial year ended 31 December 

2015 were as follows: 

  2015 2014 

 

Directors 3 - 

Direct - 7 

Administrative 1 1 

 _____________ _____________ 

 4 8 

 _____________ _____________ 

 

 
8. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

    

        Medical       Computer Furniture 

 Improvements  and other   equipment and 

                                                                to premises        equipment and software fittings Total 

                                                                            Eur                   Eur  Eur Eur Eur 
 

 

Cost: 
  

At 1 January 2015 9,700      9,209 33,358 13,907 66,174 

Additions for the financial year 81,795    69,471 154 57,631 209,051 
                                                                                                       ____________               ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ 

At 31 December 2015 91,495    78,680    33,512 71,538 275,225 
                                                                                                       ____________               ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ 

 

 

Accumulated depreciation: 
  

At 1 January 2015 970      2,867 14,588 4,962 23,387 

Charge for the financial year 1,745      3,997 6,689 3,776 16,207 
                                                                                                       ____________               ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ 

At 31 December 2015 2,715      6,864    21,277 8,738 39,594 
                                                                                                       ____________               ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ 

 

 

Net book value: 
  

At 31 December 2015 88,780    71,816 12,235 62,800 235,631 
                                                                                                       ____________               ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ 

 

At 31 December 2014 8,730      6,342    18,770 8,945 42,787 
                                                                                                       ____________               ____________ ____________ ____________ ___________ 
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9. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

 Website and   

 project    

 development costs Patents Total 

  Eur Eur Eur 
 

At 1 January 2014  - 35,467 35,467 

Additions for the financial year  5,260 - 5,260 

Amortisation for the financial year  (1,315) (2,533) (3,848) 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ 

At 31 December 2014  3,945 32,934 36,879 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ 

 

At 1 January 2015  3,945 32,934 36,879 

Additions for the financial year  6,450 - 6,450 

Amortisation for the financial year  (2,505) (2,534) (5,039) 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ 

At 31 December 2015  7,890 30,400 38,290 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ 

 

 

10. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 

 

  2015  2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Subsidiary Company-AAT Intellectual Property Limited: 

 

120 Ordinary Shares of Eur10 each, 20% Paid-Up, 

representing a holding of 100% 240 240 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

Subsidiary Company-AAT Medical Limited: 

  

120 Ordinary Shares of Eur10 each, 20% Paid-Up, 

representing a holding of 100% 240 240 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

Subsidiary Company-AAT Services Limited: 

  

120 Ordinary Shares of Eur10 each, 20% Paid-Up, 

representing a holding of 100% 240 240 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

Total: 720 720 
 _____________ _____________ 
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11. RECEIVABLES 

 

  2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

These comprise: 

 

Prepayments and accrued income 2,297 - 

Related Company loan account (Vide (i),(ii) and (iii)) 253,706 52,173 

Value added taxation refundable 48,235 22,178 

Other receivables 37,031 - 
 _____________ _____________ 

 341,269 74,351 
 _____________ _____________ 

 
(i) The balance on the related Company loan account amounting to Eur39,927 (31 December 2014 – 

Eur51,489) is due to AAT Services Limited and is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed date of 

repayment. 

 
(i) The balance on the related Company loan account amounting to Eur213,109 (31 December 2014 – 

Eur14 is due to AAT Medical Limited and is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed date of repayment. 

 

(i) The balance on the related Company loan account amounting to Eur670 (31 December 2014 – Eur670) 

is due to AAT Intellectual Property Limited and is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed date of 

repayment. 

 

 

12. SHAREHOLDERS’ CURRENT ACCOUNT 

 

The balance on the shareholder’s current account amounting to Eur3,053 (31 December 2014 – Nil) is 

unsecured, interest free and has no fixed date of repayment. 

 

 

13. DIRECTORS’ CURRENT ACCOUNT 

 

The balance on the directors’ current account of Eur5,601 (31 December 2014 – Eur5,984) is unsecured, 

interest-free and has no fixed date of repayment. 

 

 

14. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL 

 

  2015  2014 

  Eur Eur 

 

Authorised: 

 

5,000,000 Ordinary Shares of Eur0.10 each 500,000 500,000 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

Issued and Fully Paid-Up: 
  

139,562 (2014 - 111,647) Ordinary Shares of Eur0.10 each 13,956 11,165 
 _____________ _____________
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14. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL (Contd.) 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the shareholders of AAT Research Limited resolved to issue 

and allot, an additional 2,791 ordinary shares of Eur0.10 each, 100% paid up, such that the issued share 

capital amounted to Eur13,956. 

 

 

15. SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE 

 

The share premium reserve represents a premium on the issue of 139,562 Ordinary Shares of Eur0.10 

each at Eur11.8207177 each. 

 

 

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 

 2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

Current borrowings: 

 

Bank loans 56,000 12,254 

 _____________ ____________ 

Non-current borrowings: 

 

Bank loans 232,328 46,551 

 _____________ ____________ 

 

 

Total borrowings: 288,328 58,805 

 _____________ ____________ 

 

The Company benefits from Loan Facilities totaling Eur345,475 granted by Bank of Valletta p.l.c.;  

 
The Bank of Valletta p.l.c. facilities are secured by: 

 

a) a Pledge over an insurance policy held in the name of one of the directors; 

b) a Pledge over an insurance policy covering property held by the Company; 

c) a Joint and Several Guarantee given by one of the directors; 

d) a Letter of Undertaking given by the Company’s directors not to pay dividends nor repay 

shareholders’ loans without the bank’s prior written consent. 

e) a Letter of Undertaking given by the Company’s directors not to demand repayment of any loans nor 

request interest thereon without the bank’s prior written consent. 

 

The average interest rates on the Company’s borrowings were as follows: 

 

 2015 2014 

 

Bank loans 5.65% 4.72% 

 _____________ ____________ 
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Contd.) 

 

Maturity of non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings: 

 2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

Between 1 and 2 years 56,000 12,911 

Between 2 and 5 years 90,409 29,577 

5 years and over 85,919 4,063 

 _____________ _____________ 

 232,328 46,551 

 _____________ _____________

 

 

17. SHAREHOLDERS’ LOAN ACCOUNT 

 

The balance on the shareholders’ loan account amounting to Eur210,000 (31 December 2014 – Nil) is 

unsecured, interest free and has no fixed date of repayment. 

 
 

18. PAYABLES 
 
 2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

These comprise: 

  

Trade payables 12,047 100,425 

Accruals 7,456 1,865 

Related Company loan account - 11,914 

NI and FSS payable 10,896 4,963 
 _____________ ____________ 

 30,399 119,167 
 _____________ ____________ 

 

 

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2015 included in the Statement of Cash Flows comprise the 

following Statement of Financial Position amount: 

 

 2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

 

Bank balance 1,242,593 - 
 _____________ _____________ 
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20. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

At 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 

liabilities classified with current assets and current liabilities respectively approximated their fair values 

due to the short term maturities of these assets and liabilities.  

 

The fair values of non-current financial assets and non-current financial liabilities, other than unlisted 

investments that cannot be reliably measured and that are carried at cost, are not materially different from 

their carrying amounts. 

 

 

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Financial assets which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist 

principally of receivables and cash at bank. Receivables are presented net of an allowance for doubtful 

debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is made where there is an identified loss event which, based on 

previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows.  

 

Credit risk with respect to receivables is limited due to credit control procedures and the large number of 

customers comprising the Company’s receivables base. Moreover, the majority of foreign receivables are 

covered by ‘credit insurance’. 

 

Cash at bank is placed with reliable financial institutions. 

 

(a) Market risk 

 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 

 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings and value caused by a change in foreign exchange rates. 

Foreign exchange risk arises when financial assets or liabilities are denominated in currencies which are 

different from the Company’s functional currency. As at the end of the reporting period the Company did 

not have any exposure to fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial 

position and cash flows since it had no financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency.  

 

(ii) Interest rate risk 
 

The Company is exposed to the risk of fluctuating market interest rates. As the Company has no 

significant interest-bearing assets, its income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 

changes in market interest rates. Bank borrowings issued at variable rates, expose the Company to cash 

flow interest rate risk. Management monitors the level of floating rate borrowings as a measure of cash 

flow risk taken on.  

 

Up to the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have any hedging policy with respect to 

interest rate risk as exposure to such risk was not deemed to be significant by the directors since these 

assets are of a short term nature. Management considers the potential impact on profit or loss of a defined 

interest rate shift that is reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial. 
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd.) 

 

(b) Credit risk  

 
The Company has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 

amounts in full when due.  Key areas where the Company is exposed to credit risk are: 

 

 2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Trade receivables - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,242,593 - 

 _____________ _____________ 

 1,242,593 - 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of the carrying amount 

of the financial assets mentioned in the preceding table is disclosed in the respective notes to the financial 

statements.  The Company does not hold any collateral as security in this respect. 

 

Credit risk in respect of receivables is not deemed to be significant after since receivable consist of 

accrued income.  

 

The Company banks only with financial institutions with high quality standing or rating. 

 

 (c) Liquidity risk  
 

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities, which principally comprise trade and other payables (Note 20).  All trade and other 

payables are repayable on demand.   

 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash to ensure availability of an 

adequate amount of funding to meet the Company’s obligations.  Its liquidity position is managed by the 

directors, who identify evaluate and manages the Company’s position on an ongoing basis.  

 

In this respect, the Company’s ultimate shareholders have undertaken to provide the necessary finance 

and guarantees to enable the Company to meet any obligations in full. Accordingly, exposure to such risk 

is not considered to be significant. 
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22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors considers the ultimate shareholders of AAT Research Limited to be: 

 

  Ordinary 
   Shares of 

  Eur10 each, 

  20% paid up 

 
ACP Investments Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        750 

ARQ Fiduciaries Ltd.                                                                                                        558 

Avonmore Holdings Company Ltd.                                                                                                        900 

Azure Capital Investments Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        1,889 

Bushwood Nominees Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        555 

C Pismiris Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        750 

J & J Bandy Nominees Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        555 

Little Breton Nominees Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        555 

Salmon Brick Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        278 

Shimano Ventures Ltd.                                                                                                        8,332 

Smac Nominees Pty Limited                                                                                                        278 

Transcontinental Investments Pty Ltd.                                                                                                    5,000 

Tuning Fork Ltd.                                                                                                        670 

Upsky Equity Pty Ltd.                                                                                                        250 

Patrick Francis Brett                                                                                                        833 

Anna Maria Calleja                                                                                                        2,058 

Claude Calleja                                                                                                        2,179

Alfred Camilleri                                                                                                        1,049 

Stephen Cassar                                                                                                       1,675  

Stephen Chetcuti Bonavita 4,783                                                                                                       

Christopher James Francis                                                                                                        833 

Gilbert Charles & Brooke Samantha George                                                                                              250 

Alexander Grech                                                                                                        12,728 

Jonathan Holburt                                                                                                        932 

Bruce Alexandre McCracken                                                                                                        500 

David & Edwina Mclean                                                                                                        418 

Angelica Micallef Trigona                                                                                                        2,283 

Malcolm Ross                                                                                                        558 

Melvin Toomey                                                                                                        2,500 

Karen Janeen Trevisan                                                                                                        447 

David Vella                                                                                                        3,783 

Mario Attard Trevisan as Trustee for the Paloma Trust 80,433                                                                             

  _____________ 

  139,562 
  _____________ 

 

During the course of the financial year under review, the Company entered into transactions with it’s 

ultimate shareholders. These transactions consisted of amounts paid and received by the Company and are 

disclosed in Notes 12 and 17 respectively.  

 

The terms and conditions do not specify the nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement.  
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23. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

 

At 31 December 2015 the Company had no capital commitments. 

 

 

24. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s disclosure for the 

purpose of fairer presentation 

 

 

25. STATUTORY INFORMATION 

 

AAT Research Limited was incorporated in Malta as a limited liability Company under the Companies 

Act, 1995 on 30 July 2012. 

 

The Company’s registration number is C57103. 
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

  2015 2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

 

SALES 

 

Turnover 32,608 71,351 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

COST OF SALES 

 

Opening inventories - 1,898 

Direct purchases and other related costs 18,238 43,015 
 _____________ _____________ 

 18,238 44,913 

Direct expenses (SCHEDULE II) 14,579 11,834 
 _____________ _____________ 

 32,817 56,747 

(Closing inventories) - - 

  _____________ _____________ 

 32,817 56,747 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

  _____________ _____________ 

GROSS (LOSS) / PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (209) 14,604 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

EXPENSES 

 

General and administrative expenses (SCHEDULE III) 151,969 74,423 

 

Selling and distribution expenses (SCHEDULE IV) 24,317 33,916 

  _____________ _____________ 

 176,286 108,339 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

(OPERATING LOSS FOR THE YEAR) (176,495) (93,735) 

 

Finance costs (SCHEDULE V) (5,862) (7,363) 
 _____________ _____________ 

 (182,357) (101,098) 

 

Other income  - 13,945 
 _____________ _____________ 

(LOSS FOR THE YEAR) (182,357) (87,153) 
 _____________ _____________ 

 



AAT Research Limited  SCHEDULE II 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

DIRECT EXPENSES 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

  2015  2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

 

Direct wages and salaries 11,088 39,458 

Engineering products and services 14,579 3,195 

Other direct expenses - 382 

Subcontracted fees - 8,257 

 

Less: Capitalisation of direct wages and salaries (11,088) (39,458) 

 _____________ _____________ 

(SCHEDULE I) 14,579 11,834 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



AAT Research Limited  SCHEDULE III 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

  2015  2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

 

Amortisation of patents and trademarks 2,534 2,533 

Amortisation of project and website development costs 2,505 - 

Audit fee 2,600 1,200 

Cleaning expenses - 474 

Consultancy fees - 9,346 

Depreciation of computer equipment and software 6,689 7,986 

Depreciation of furniture and fittings 3,776 2,781  

Depreciation of improvements to premises 1,745 970 

Depreciation of medical and other equipment 3,997 2,302 

Directors’ remuneration 88,386 22,616 

General expenses 360 4,304 

Insurances 2,468 855 

Legal and professional fees 35,425 2,405 

Licences and permits - 800 

Office expenses - 1,824 

Penalties and charges 551 444 

Postage expenses  671 2,822 

Registration fees 800 800 

Rent, water and electricity 17,685 3,470 

Repairs and maintenance 1,376 2,002 

Stationery and printing 2,281 2,899 

Subscriptions and membership fees 2,385 2,034 

Telecommunications 1,669 2,707 

Wages and salaries 29,167 10,020 

Website and computer related expenses 657 4,669 
 _____________ _____________ 

 207,727 92,263 

(Less: Recharge of directors’ remuneration to subsidiary Company) (35,271) (9,047) 

(Less: Recharge of wages and salaries to subsidiary Company) (29,487) (8,793) 
 _____________ _____________ 

(SCHEDULE I) 151,969 74,423 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



AAT Research Limited  SCHEDULE IV 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

  2015  2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

 

Advertising, promotion and sponsorships 14,952 11,705 

Consultancy and marketing fees 526 3,267 

Motor vehicle expenses 7,947 1,286 

Overseas travelling, accommodation and entertainment 892 12,785 

Wages and salaries - 4,873 

 _____________ _____________ 

(SCHEDULE I) 24,317 33,916 
 _____________ _____________ 

 

 

 
 



AAT Research Limited  SCHEDULE V 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

FINANCE COSTS 

Year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

 

  

 

  2015  2014 

 Eur Eur 

 

Bank charges 858 1,351 

Bank and loan interest 5,004 6,012 
 _____________ _____________ 

(SCHEDULE I) 5,862 7,363 
 _____________ _____________ 

 



 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 


